

# City of York Employee Handbook

# **Approved December 2023**

# DISCLAIMER

ALL EMPLOYEES OF THE CITY OF YORK ARE EMPLOYED AT-WILL AND MAY QUIT OR BE TERMINATED AT ANY TIME AND FOR ANY OR NO REASON. NOTHING IN ANY OF THE CITY'S RULES, POLICIES, HANDBOOKS, PROCEDURES OR OTHER DOCUMENTS RELATING TO EMPLOYMENT CREATES ANY EXPRESS OR IMPLIED CONTRACT OF EMPLOYMENT. THIS HANDBOOK REPLACES ANY PREVIOUSLY ISSUED POLICIES, WRITTEN OR ORAL, GOVERNING EMPLOYMENT. NO PAST PRACTICES OR PROCEDURES, WHETHER ORAL OR WRITTEN, FORM ANY EXPRESS OR IMPLIED AGREEMENT TO CONTINUE SUCH PRACTICES OR PROCEDURES. NO PROMISES OR ASSURANCES, WHETHER WRITTEN OR ORAL, THAT ARE CONTRARY TO OR INCONSISTENT WITH THE LIMITATIONS SET FORTH IN THIS PARAGRAPH CREATE ANY CONTRACT OF EMPLOYMENT UNLESS: 1) THE TERMS ARE PUT IN WRITING; 2) THE DOCUMENT IS LABELED "CONTRACT"; 3) THE DOCUMENT STATES THE TERM OF EMPLOYMENT; AND 4) THE DOCUMENT IS SIGNED BY THE CITY MANAGER.



# DISCLAIMER

ALL EMPLOYEES OF THE CITY OF YORK ARE EMPLOYED AT-WILL AND MAY QUIT OR BE TERMINATED AT ANY TIME AND FOR ANY OR NO REASON. NOTHING IN ANY OF THE CITY'S RULES, POLICIES, HANDBOOKS, PROCEDURES OR OTHER DOCUMENTS RELATING TO EMPLOYMENT CREATES ANY EXPRESS OR IMPLIED CONTRACT OF EMPLOYMENT. THIS HANDBOOK REPLACES ANY PREVIOUSLY ISSUED POLICIES, WRITTEN OR ORAL, GOVERNING EMPLOYMENT. NO PAST PRACTICES OR PROCEDURES, WHETHER ORAL OR WRITTEN, FORM ANY EXPRESS OR IMPLIED AGREEMENT TO CONTINUE SUCH PRACTICES OR PROCEDURES. NO PROMISES OR ASSURANCES, WHETHER WRITTEN OR ORAL, THAT ARE CONTRARY TO OR INCONSISTENT WITH THE LIMITATIONS SET FORTH IN THIS PARAGRAPH CREATE ANY CONTRACT OF EMPLOYMENT UNLESS: 1) THE TERMS ARE PUT IN WRITING; 2) THE DOCUMENT IS LABELED "CONTRACT"; 3) THE DOCUMENT STATES THE TERM OF EMPLOYMENT; AND 4) THE DOCUMENT IS SIGNED BY THE CITY MANAGER.

I UNDERSTAND THAT THE CITY OF YORK'S PERSONNEL POLICY MANUAL IS ACCESSIBLE ON THE CITY'S WEBSITE: www.yorksc.gov AND A HARD COPY CAN BE OBTAINED THROUGH MY SUPERVISOR.

I FURTHER UNDERSTAND THAT NEITHER THE PERSONNEL POLICY MANUAL NOR MY SIGNATURE ON THIS DOCUMENT CONSTITUTES A CONTRACT OF EMPLOYMENT.

Signature (Please sign in blue ink)

Date

**Printed Name** 

For ease of readability, these policies follow the traditional English practice of referring to unidentified individuals by the use of masculine pronouns. Wherever such a pronoun is used, it is intended to apply to both males and females.



# TABLE OF CONTENTS

SECTION	1	TITLE	PAGE				
	DISCLAIMER						
1.	INTRODUCTION						
	1.1	To the Employee	<b>5</b> 5				
	1.2	City of York Government	6				
	1.3	Authority/Responsibility – City Manager	6				
	1.4	Employees Subject to Policies	6				
2. GENERAL POLICIES							
2.	2.1	Departmental Policies	<b>6</b> 6				
	2.1	Severability Policy	0 6				
	2.2	Equal Employment Opportunity	0				
	2.3	Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA)	6 7				
	2.4 2.5	Anti-Harassment Policy	7				
	2.5	Complaint Procedure and Investigation	8				
	2.0	Social Media Policy	9				
	2.8	Computer/Internet Use Policy	10				
	2.9	Substance Abuse Policy	10				
	2.10	Vehicle Use and Driving Policy	18				
	2.10	Disciplinary Policy	26				
3.	RECRUITM	IENT AND SELECTION	28				
	3.1	Recruitment	28				
	3.2	Duties and Responsibilities	29				
	3.3	Post-Offer Medical Examinations/Drug Testing	29				
	3.4 3.5	Safety and Accident Prevention	29 30				
	3.5	Employee Definitions	30				
4.	CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT		31				
	4.1	Nepotism	31				
	4.2	Job-Related Investigation	32				
5.	CODE OF CONDUCT		32				
	5.1	Employee Conduct	32				
	5.2 5.3	Dealing with the Public Outside Employment	32 32				
	5.3 5.4	Conflict of Interest	32				
	5.5	Gifts and Gratuities	34				
	5.6	Civic and Political Activities	34				
	5.7	Release of Information	34				
	5.8 5.9	Freedom of Information Act	34 35				
	5.9 5.10	Tobacco / Smoking Appearance	35 35				
	5.11	Attendance and Punctuality	35				
	5.12	Telephone Policy	36				
	5.13	Solicitation	36				
			2				



# Table of Content

Section		Title	Page
5.	Code of C	36	
	5.14	Purchase of City Property	36
	5.15	General Prohibitions	36
	5.16	Housekeeping	37
	5.17	Workplace Safety	37
6.	EMPLOYEE RECORDS		38
	6.1	Personnel Records	38
	6.2	Personal Data Changes	39
	6.3	Personnel Transactions	39
	6.4	Attendance Records	39
7.	EMPLOYE	E CHANGE OF STATUS	39
	7.1	Promotion	39
	7.2	Demotion	40
	7.3	Lateral Transfer	40
8.	COMPENSATION/WAGES		40
	8.1	Wages during Daylight Savings Transition	40
	8.2	Salary Progression	41
	8.3	Date of Hire/Anniversary Date	41
	8.4 8.5	Employment Classifications Hiring & Introductory Period	41 42
	0.0		72
9.	WORK CONDITIONS/HOURS		43
	9.1	Timekeeping	43
	9.2	Work Schedules/Hours of Work	43
	9.3	Pay Day	44
	9.4	Overtime/Compensatory Time	44
	9.5	Light Duty	46
	9.6	Performance Evaluations	46
10.	ATTENDA	46	
	10.1	Application	46
	10.2	Holidays	46
	10.3	Annual Leave	47
	10.4	Sick Leave	49
	10.5	Bereavement Leave	51
	10.6	Civil Duty Leave – Vote	52
	10.7	Jury Duty Leave	52
	10.8	Witness Duty Leave	52
	10.9	Private Litigation Leave	53
	10.10	Administrative Leave	53
	10.11	Operational Shutdown Leave	53
	10.12	Family and Medical Leave Act	53



# **Table of Contents**

Section		Title	Page
11.	EMPLOYE	E BENEFIT PROGRAMS	60
	11.1	General Conditions	60
	11.2	Fringe Benefits	60
	11.3	Workers' Compensation Program	62
	11.4	Equipment and Supplies	63
	11.5	Uniforms	63
	11.6	Auto Allowance	63
	11.7	Travel and Subsistence Allowance	63
	11.8	Training	64
	11.9	Dues and Certifications	64

SEPARATI	64	
12.1	Disclaimer	64
12.2	Resignation	64
12.3	Compulsory (Involuntary) Resignation	65
12.4	Retirement	65
12.5	Loss of License/Job Requirement	65
12.6	Reduction in Force (Layoff)	65
12.7	Discharge	66
12.8	Death	66
12.9	Separation Provisions	66
12.10	Separation Pay	66
12. 11	Exit Interview	67
12.12	Return of Property	67
12.13	Reimbursement to the City	67
12.14	COBRA	67
	12.1 12.2 12.3 12.4 12.5 12.6 12.7 12.8 12.9 12.10 12.11 12.12 12.13	<ul> <li>12.2 Resignation</li> <li>12.3 Compulsory (Involuntary) Resignation</li> <li>12.4 Retirement</li> <li>12.5 Loss of License/Job Requirement</li> <li>12.6 Reduction in Force (Layoff)</li> <li>12.7 Discharge</li> <li>12.8 Death</li> <li>12.9 Separation Provisions</li> <li>12.10 Separation Pay</li> <li>12.11 Exit Interview</li> <li>12.12 Return of Property</li> <li>12.13 Reimbursement to the City</li> </ul>



#### **SECTION 1. INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1 To the Employee:

As an employee of The City of York, you work for an important group of people -- the citizens of our city. Through your employment with the City of York, you play a part in providing essential services to the public. These services are important to the existence and improvement of our city, and the provision of these services is critical to the quality of life in the City of York. For these reasons, it is important that you take your job seriously and perform your duties to the best of your ability. Attitude is a most important part of your job. Your attitude toward the public should be one of courtesy, efficiency and willingness to serve. Your attitude toward coworkers and supervisors should be one of cooperation, responsibility and fairness.

As a public employee, you should also realize that all of your actions, both on and off the job, reflect directly on the City of York. Keep in mind that as a public employee, paid with public funds and using public equipment, you are in the public eye. It is essential that your actions be beyond reproach and in the best interest of the city that you serve. It is the objective of the City Council to maintain a staff of efficient and welltrained employees who are aware of their responsibilities and who are interested in serving the needs of the citizens of York.

The Personnel Policy Manual of the City of York is designed to provide you with information about working conditions, employee benefits, and some of the policies affecting your employment. You should read and understand all provisions of the Personnel Policy Manual. It describes many of your responsibilities as an employee and outlines the programs developed by the City to benefit employees. One of our objectives is to provide a work environment that is conducive to both personal and professional growth.

No personnel policy manual can anticipate every circumstance or question about policy. As City of York operations continue to grow, the City reserves the right to revise, supplement, or rescind any policy or portion of the manual from time to time, as it deems appropriate, at its sole and absolute discretion, with or without notice.

All employees are expected to meet certain work standards, including faithful attendance to the job and compliance with safety rules and operating procedures. The City of York maintains an "open door" policy with regard to problems that you may experience on the job. Your supervisor and management personnel are receptive to comments or questions you may have regarding your employment and working conditions.



# 1.2 City of York Government

- A. The City of York operates under the Council-Manager form of government as set forth in Title 5, Chapter 13 of the South Carolina Code of Laws.
- B. The Mayor is elected at large, and the six (6) Council members are elected by districts for four-year staggered terms. The Council determines all municipal policies, adopts ordinances and appoints the City Manager, City Attorney, Municipal Judge, and members of various boards and commissions.

# **1.3** Authority and Responsibility of the City Manager

The City Manager serves as the administrative head of the City Government and is responsible for the administration of all departments of the City. The City Manager executes the policies, directives and legislative actions promulgated by the City Council and supervises the expenditure of appropriated funds.

#### 1.4 Employees Subject to These Policies

The provisions of these policies are applicable to all City employees. Persons not covered include:

- A. Mayor and Council Members
- B. Members of Boards, Commissions, and Committees
- C. Individuals retained on a contractual fee for services or retainer basis
- D. Volunteers receiving no salary or non-monetary compensation.

# **SECTION 2. GENERAL POLICIES**

#### 2.1 Departmental Policies

A. Departmental policies established by the Department head remain valid and in force unless they are in contradiction of the Personnel Policy Manual. In case of conflict, the Personnel Policy Manual prevails.

#### 2.2 Severability Policy

B. It is the intent of the City that the sections, paragraphs, sentences, clauses, and phrases of this Personnel Policy Manual are severable. Should any such section, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase be declared unconstitutional or invalid, such declaration does not affect the remaining sections, paragraphs, sentences, clauses and phrases, since the same would have been enacted by the City without the incorporation of this policy of such unconstitutional, invalid or unenforceable section, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase.

#### 2.3 Equal Employment Opportunity

A. State and federal law require that the City not discriminate in employment opportunities or practices on the basis of race, color, religion, gender, gender identification, sexual orientation, pregnancy, disability, age, genetic information and national origin or any other characteristic protected by law. This requirement extends to all



personnel actions including, but not limited to: recruitment, selection and hiring, training, promotion, demotion, compensation (rates of pay) and benefits, transfer, layoff, return from layoff, economic demotion, disciplinary actions, termination, and the handling of appeals.

B. An employee with a question or concern about any type of discrimination in the workplace is encouraged to bring such issue to the attention of his immediate supervisor, department head, or the City Manager. Employees can raise concerns and make reports without fear of reprisal.

# 2.4 Americans with Disability Act (ADA), Americans with Disabilities Amendments Act (ADAAA), and Reasonable Accommodation.

To ensure equal employment opportunities to qualified individuals with a disability, the City of York will make reasonable accommodations for the known disability of an otherwise qualified individual, unless undue hardship on the operation of the business would result. Employees who may require a reasonable accommodation should contact Human Resources.

# 2.5 Anti-Harassment Policy

A. Various laws and regulations generally prohibit employment decisions from being made based on race, color, religion, gender, gender identification, sexual orientation, pregnancy, disability, age, genetic information and national origin or any other characteristic protected by law. In addition, the City endeavors to provide a working environment in which employees are free from discomfort or pressure resulting from jokes, ridicule, slurs, threats, and harassment either relating to such distinctions or simply resulting from a lack of consideration for a fellow human being.

The City does not tolerate harassment of any kind. The City forbids retaliation against anyone who has reported harassment in good faith.

# B. Sexual Harassment

- 1. Sexual harassment warrants special mention. Unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, and other physical, verbal, or visual conduct based on sex constitute sexual harassment when:
  - a. Submission to the conduct is an explicit or implicit term or condition of employment; or
  - b. Submission to or rejection of the conduct is used as the basis for an employment decision; or
  - c. The conduct has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with an individual's work performance or creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive work environment.
- Sexual harassment may include explicit sexual propositions, sexual innuendo, suggestive comments, sexually-oriented kidding or teasing, practical jokes, jokes about gender-specific traits, foul or obscene language or gestures, displays of foul or obscene printed or visual material, put-downs or condescending or derisive comments or terms based on gender, and physical conduct, such as patting,



pinching, or brushing against another person. This policy prohibits such conduct regardless of the gender of the perpetrator or victim.

3. Disputes sometimes arise as to whether conduct was welcome or unwelcome. Conduct that would violate this policy if it were unwelcome is considered to violate the policy if anyone complains of it. Obviously, not all conduct that is prohibited by this policy constitutes a violation of the law.

# C. Anti-Bullying

- 1. In addition to the Anti-Harassment Policy adopted by the City, other behaviors, which may not technically be considered unlawful harassment, are also considered inappropriate.
- 2. The following is a list of some behaviors which the City may consider a violation of this policy. The list is not all-inclusive, and the City reserves the right to handle each matter as it deems appropriate.
  - a. Singling out a person for conduct others engage in
  - b. Shouting or raising one's voice toward an individual either in public or private
  - c. Verbal or obscene gestures
  - d. Insults and use of offensive nicknames. Whether such language is deemed offensive is determined by the person to whom it is directed.
  - e. Public humiliation or reprimands
  - f. Ignoring or interrupting employee
  - g. Spreading rumors or gossip
  - h. Manipulating the ability of another to complete his work. For example, overloading work; withholding information; setting unreasonable guidelines; excluding an individual or isolating him from work-related activities and meetings; encouraging others to disregard or ignore an employee.

# 2.6 Complaint Procedure and Investigation

A. If you believe this policy that the Equal Employment Opportunity or anti-harassment policies have been violated by anyone with whom you come in contact on the job, regardless of whether it is by a fellow worker, a supervisor, or a member of the public, you should report the incident(s). You may do this by reporting to your supervisor or, if he is the offender, to the City Manager. Complaints against the City Manager should be made to the Mayor. You may also report directly to the human resources manager.



B. Supervisors and managers who receive complaints of, or become aware of, harassment should immediately contact human resources.

C. Every harassment allegation is investigated. Investigatory procedures may vary from case to case, depending upon the circumstances. The investigation is conducted as confidentially as possible, consistent with the effective handling of the complaint and the goals of this policy. All employees have a responsibility both to cooperate fully with the investigation and to keep the matter confidential, whether the employee is the accused person, the complaining one, or merely a potential witness. This does not mean, however, that employees may not complain to civil rights agencies.

# D. Important

- 1. To avoid misunderstandings, complaints made to members of management or to the human resources manager must involve completion of a complaint report, either by you or by the person to whom you make the complaint, detailing the allegations and listing any witnesses to the alleged harassment. You should be sure to get a copy of this initial complaint report to confirm you have complied with this procedure.
- 2. These procedures have been established to enable you to get relief if you feel that you are the victim of harassment. The U.S. Supreme Court has said that, generally, you may not sue the City for a violation of your rights unless you first give us notice and an opportunity to end the harassment. The reporting procedures which we have adopted are intended to establish a clear record of what has been reported.

#### 2.7 Social Media Policy

Social networking, personal websites, and blogs have become common methods of self-expression. The City respects the right of employees to use these media during their personal time. Employees may not access social media sites, other than for business use, during working hours or using City equipment. What is "reasonable" is determined in the sole discretion of the City. The only sure way to avoid violating the City's policy on personal social media site access is to not to access such sites at all during working hours or using City equipment.

Employees must understand that material posted on these media may be read by persons other than those for whom it is intended. Employees are cautioned that they are responsible for the contents of social media posts they make. Posts that contain obscene or harassing material, that are unlawful, that contain personal attacks on coworkers, that reasonably call into question the employee's judgment, or that reasonably cause concern among the public may result in discipline, up to and including termination from employment. Similarly, conduct that would violate City policies if done in person also violates City policy if done through social media. Employees may not disclose confidential information over social media or similar sites.



Employees who post on media sites and who have identified themselves as a member or employee of the City on those sites, must make it clear that they are expressing their own views and not those of the City.

## 2.8 Computer/Internet Use Policy

A. The workplace is intended to be a place of work. An important part of work is communications and record keeping. No employee is at work 24 hours a day, seven days a week, and there are times when management needs access to communications or records maintained by employees in their individual workplaces. Personal items and personal communications received or stored on City premises are not entitled to a guarantee of privacy.

B. Management may search City property and documents in City-owned vehicles, employee desks, offices, lockers, file cabinets, etc.

C. Electronic media raise similar issues. The City provides electronic and telephonic communication devices and, when necessary, computers and mobile devices to employees for use in performing their job duties. Although assigned to the employee, these items still belong to the City. Similarly, any computer files created or software downloaded on a City computer belong to the City. Employees are given certain access and computer rights based upon the employee's job description. Employees may not change any of these rights or the rights of anyone else. Software, programs, games, and any other downloads may not be installed on City computers without the written permission of the City Manager.

D. Employees are prohibited, unless specifically authorized by the City, from accessing and/or viewing e-mail which has not been sent by, or addressed to, the employee. Similarly, employees are prohibited, unless specifically authorized by the City, from accessing and/or viewing databases containing personal employee information. Employees who have received appropriate authorization to access and/or view databases containing personal employee information are prohibited from using or discussing information in those databases except as directed by management.

E. The City consents to the reasonable personal use of its communication devices. The definition of "reasonable personal use" is determined in the sole discretion of the City. The only sure way to avoid violating the City's policy on personal use is not to use the City's communication devices, computers and network for <u>any</u> personal purpose. The following personal computer use is absolutely forbidden:

1. Accessing any material which the City considers to be pornographic; transmitting or knowingly accepting receipt of any



communication which is pornographic, obscene, or in the City's opinion might contribute to a hostile work environment in that it demeans individuals on the basis of race, color, religion, gender, gender identification, sexual orientation, pregnancy, disability, age, genetic information and national origin or any other characteristic protected by law;

2. Conducting business for outside employment or a sidebusiness;

F. Although employees may use City-owned communication devices, computers and network for limited personal use all files and data created or transmitted using a computer (desktop or laptop), or any other electronic device provided to the employee by the City belong to the City and may be accessed by the City during transmission of the communication or while in storage on the City's equipment. This includes, but is not limited to, voicemail, the content of e-mail, text (sms) messages, multi- media messages (mms), instant messages, and the content of internet websites.

By accepting employment with the City, you consent to monitoring, including "real time" monitoring, of all communications described in this policy and authorize the City to access all data stored on communication devices provided by the City. The City also reserves the right to report the finding of such reviews to appropriate agencies. Data stored on a City communication device includes data, such as personal third-party e-mail accounts (*e.g.*, yahoo, Hotmail, Gmail, etc.) and websites, that is accessed with a password where the data was accessed using the City's communication device. Thus, if you do not want the City to have access to your personal e-mail account or your social networking site, you should not access your personal e-mail or other password-protected websites using City-owned communication devices. Even though an item has been "deleted" and the employee cannot retrieve it, this does not mean that the City cannot do so. It is also possible to generate a report of every Internet connection made by each user and the amount of time spent in each connection.

If you access personal e-mail accounts or other password-protected websites using City-owned communication devices, you will be subjecting those accounts and websites to any viruses that may have infected the City-owned communication device. The City is not liable for any damages you suffer because of such access. The best way for you to protect your personal information is to refrain from accessing it using City-owned equipment.

City employees may not use their own *personal* electronic equipment (including, but not limited to, personal laptop computers and cellular phones) on City property or at City work sites to engage in conduct which would be prohibited if using City equipment.



# 2.9 SUBSTANCE ABUSE AND TESTING POLICY

It is well-recognized that substance abuse has a harmful effect on public health and safety, on the welfare of employees, on morale, and on productivity. Furthermore, it is the policy of the City of York to comply with the Drug Free Workplace Act, to comply with applicable federal regulations, to establish and maintain alcohol and drug-free workplaces, and to prohibit the unauthorized or unlawful manufacture, distribution, dispensation, possession, and / or use of controlled substances on or off the job. For these reasons, the City adopts the following policy:

# 1. General Rule

- A. Effective immediately, all City employees are prohibited from swallowing, inhaling, injecting, dealing in, or otherwise using illegal drugs and substances (such as marijuana, cocaine, LSD, heroin, etc.). Further, this prohibition applies to the misuse, abuse, or any unlawful use or possession of otherwise legal drugs. This prohibition applies to use at any time, both on the job and off the job. City employees are permitted to possess any substance when required by their jobs or for lawful delivery to another person.
- B. Effective immediately, all City employees are prohibited from using or possessing alcoholic beverages on City premises or time. (The term "City premises or time" includes: City vehicles and private vehicles on City premises; parking lots and recreation areas; and any circumstances in which an employee is representing the City, such as attending off-premises business meetings or conferences. Employees are not prohibited, however, from having unopened containers of alcoholic beverages in their personal vehicle. The City Manager may approve moderate alcohol use at designated social or business functions.
- C. All City employees are prohibited from reporting to or being at work while under the influence of alcohol. (An employee is considered to be "under the influence of alcohol" if he has <u>any</u> detectable amount of alcohol in his system.) An employee taking prescribed medication which might affect his ability to perform his job is required to advise his supervisor. The City will determine whether the employee may continue to work. Employees may be required to submit to a drug screen.
- D. These prohibitions also apply to leased employees and contractors employed by the City or working on City property.

E. On occasion, there may be City-sponsored events that are off-duty and/or after hours, both on and off City premises. During these times, employees are reminded that they are responsible for their own conduct at all times and inappropriate behaviors may subject them to disciplinary action, up to and including termination.

# 2. Current Employees

A. All City employees are subject to drug testing by urinalysis or other generally recognized means where "particularized suspicion" of drug use



in violation of this policy exists or under other lawful conditions. Particularized suspicion is deemed to exist when:

- 1. Information that an employee has used drugs or substances in violation of this policy is provided by a reliable informant;
- 2. An accident occurs: "accident" is defined as:
  - a. an occurrence involving a fatality;
  - b. an occurrence causing personal injury; or
  - c. an occurrence involving property damage.

# NOTE: DOT regulated employees (CDL drivers) are subject to special rules for post-accident testing and will be tested following an accident in accordance with DOT regulations.

- 3. An employee exhibits any of the following:
  - a. extreme mood swings;
  - b. slurred speech;
  - c. unusual clumsiness;
  - d. staggering;
  - e. dilation of pupils;
  - f. sleeping on the job or lethargy;
  - g. excessive unexplained sweating;
  - h. other aberrational behavior; or
  - i. an employee has been arrested for or convicted of a violation of drug laws.
  - j. an employee has tested positive for drugs or otherwise violated this policy in the last five years.
- B. All employees are subject to alcohol testing where "particularized suspicion" of alcohol use in violation of this policy exists. Particularized suspicion is deemed to exist when:
  - 1. Information that an employee has used or possessed alcohol in violation of this policy is provided by a reliable informant; A serious accident occurs due to the apparent fault of an employee. "An accident" is defined in the same manner as it is in Section II, A.2.
  - 2. An employee exhibits behavior consistent with alcohol use such as but not limited to:
    - a. erratic behavior (mood swings, slurred speech, staggering, bloodshot eyes, sleeping on the job or lethargy, excessive unexplained sweating, etc.);
    - b. the apparent odor of an alcoholic beverage on an employee's breath;
    - c. other aberrational behavior such as but not limited to excessive absenteeism or tardiness, significant deterioration in job performance, repeated errors or rules violations, etc.
  - 3. An employee has admitted violating the City's alcohol policy;
  - 4. An employee is arrested for, or convicted of, an alcohol-related offense;



- 5. An employee has tested positive for alcohol in violation of this policy within the past five years.
- C. Particularized suspicion testing is conducted upon the approval of the City Manager or his designee.
- D. All sworn police officers, fire suppression personnel, employees who are required by their jobs to possess a Commercial Driver's License or employees whose jobs the City regards as "safety-sensitive" are subject to random testing to determine compliance with this policy. Names of "safety-sensitive" employees are provided to the City's Medical Review Officer. Random selection testing is unannounced.
- E. Employees who refuse to submit to an alcohol or drug test when ordered to do so or who adulterate or substitute test samples are in violation of this policy and subject to disciplinary action, up to and including discharge. Refusal to test includes failure to appear for a test, failure to remain until testing is complete, failure to provide an adequate amount of saliva, breath, or urine, failure to undergo a medical examination to evaluate your ability to provide an adequate breath specimen, or failure to sign a required certification form.

# 3. Testing Procedure

- A. Drug testing.
  - 1. Drug testing will be by urinalysis, hair follicle or any other recognized method.
  - 2. The collection of urine samples is performed under reasonable and sanitary conditions. Urine is normally collected under conditions of semi-privacy that is, a person of the same gender will be in a position to observe obvious attempts to substitute or adulterate a urine sample. Collection of the urine sample may be directly observed by a person of the same gender, however, where the person supervising the collection believes an employee has tampered with an earlier urine sample or the employee has previously admitted or been proved to have used drugs in violation of this rule. In addition, direct observation will be used in DOT-mandated testing for DOT-regulated employees when allowed or required by DOT regulations.
  - 3. Urine samples are sealed, labeled, and documented in accordance with the procedure of the drug testing collector or laboratory. Tests performed pursuant to DOT regulations will follow the procedures required by those regulations. Labeling, storage, and transportation of samples are performed in such a manner as to preclude the probability of erroneous identification, sample contamination, or sample adulteration.
  - 4. Specimens are checked for at least the following six drugs:
    - a. marijuana
    - b. cocaine
    - c. opiates



- d. amphetamines
- e. phencyclidine
- f. barbiturates

# NOTE: Tests performed pursuant to DOT regulations check for only those substances mandated by the DOT regulations.

- 5. Applicants and employees are provided an opportunity to provide any information that they consider relevant to the test, including identification of currently used prescription or nonprescription drugs, or other relevant information.
- 6. Samples that initially result in a positive finding for drug use are retested by the gas chromatography/mass spectrometry (GCMS) or an equivalent method. If the confirmatory test results in a positive finding of drug use, and is verified by the Medical Review Officer, written report of the Medical Review Officer is conclusive for all employmentrelated purposes.
- 7. The Medical Review Officer normally allows an employee whose drug test results have been confirmed as positive the opportunity to justify the result before they notifies the City.
- 8. A positive-dilute result is treated as positive. A negative-dilute result will result in a retest. Absent satisfactory explanation, a second negative-dilute result may result in the test being considered adulterated. Dilute test results in DOT-mandated tests will be handle according to DOT regulations.
- B. Alcohol Testing.
  - A non-evidential screening device may be utilized initially to determine compliance with this policy. If the screening device indicates the presence of alcohol, or if the results of the screening device are deemed questionable by the City, then a confirmatory test is conducted utilizing an EBT (evidential breath testing) device or blood test. The City uses only DOT-approved non-evidential screening devices and DOT-approved evidential breath testing (EBT) devices for DOT-mandated alcohol testing. The City reserves the right to utilize blood testing for non-DOT alcohol tests.
  - 2. Employees will have an opportunity to provide any information that they consider to be relevant to the test.
  - 3. The EBT confirmatory test is conducted by an individual properly certified to use the equipment. (In situations involving DOT-regulated employees, the EBT operator should be properly certified in accordance with applicable DOT regulations.)
  - 4. A confirmatory test result generated through the use of an EBT or blood test that indicates a presence of alcohol in violation of this policy is conclusive for purposes of this policy.



# 4. Notice to Employees

The City attempts to distribute to all employees a copy of this policy by making it available on the City's website: www.yorksc.gov. Hard copies of this policy are available upon request. By continuing to work, the employee agrees to abide by the policy as a condition of employment.

### 5. Notice to Employer, State and Federal Grantor/Contracting Agencies, and Law Enforcement Authorities

- A. As a condition of employment, employees agree to notify the City within five calendar days after any criminal conviction for the manufacture, distribution, dispensation, possession, or use of illegal drugs and prescription drugs not prescribed for the individual employee's use. The City will notify all state and federal grantors/contracting agencies of such employee convictions as required by the state and federal Drug Free Workplace Acts. "Conviction" means a finding of guilt, imposition of a sentence, a plea of no contest, or a plea of guilty.
- B. The City will notify law enforcement authorities whenever illegal drugs are found in the workplace.

# 6. Consequences of Violating This Policy

- A. Employees who violate this policy are subject to immediate termination of employment.
- B. In the case of an employee who tests positive for or admits to the use of illegal drugs, the City may, in lieu of termination, condition continued or future employment upon the successful completion of an alcohol or drug counseling/rehabilitation program.
- C. After considering all of the relevant circumstances, if the City agrees to allow an employee who is found to be in violation of this policy to continue as an employee, the employee's continued employment will be subject to the following:
  - 1. Referral of the employee for alcohol or drug abuse counseling;
  - 2. Retesting the employee for alcohol or controlled substances before allowing the employee to return to duty;
  - Requiring the employee to authorize any rehabilitation facility to report periodically to the City during the course of treatment/counseling;
  - 4. Placing the employee on probation for at least six months following the employee's return to duty; and
  - 5. Requiring the employee to submit to unannounced follow-up alcohol and/or drug testing for a period of up to five years.
- D. An employee whose continued or future employment is conditioned upon the successful completion of a counseling or rehabilitation program and who refuses or fails to participate in a single counseling or treatment session is in violation of this policy and subject to immediate termination.



E. An employee whose return to duty test sample does not indicate that the employee has discontinued illegal use of drugs or indicates that the employee is in violation of this policy is subject to immediate termination.

# 7. Coming Forward With Substance Abuse Problems

- A. Other than sworn law enforcement officers, an employee who has a substance abuse problem and reports it to the City before being selected for testing, and before the occurrence of an event that normally would result in testing, in the City's sole discretion may, upon the first violation, be subject to Subsection 6, of this policy in lieu of termination.
- B. An employee who admits to a violation of this policy or tests positive for drugs in violation of this policy, but seeks counseling and remains an employee of the City, is subject to immediate termination if he again either admits to, or is otherwise found to be in violation of this policy.

# 8. Confidentiality

Alcohol or drug test results or information supplied by employees and applicants as part of the City's alcohol and drug testing program are kept as confidential as possible, consistent with the purposes of this policy.

# 9. Testing Costs

The City is responsible for the costs of all drug tests to which the City requires an employee to submit. However, an employee subject to unannounced followup testing pursuant to Subsection 6 is solely responsible for the cost of all follow- up tests.

Notification of Test Results

- A. Applicants are notified of the results of a pre-employment drug test, provided the applicant requests the results within 60 days of being notified of the disposition of the employment application.
- B. Employees are notified of the results (including the drug[s] discovered) of all positive drug tests.

#### **10. Drug-Free Awareness / Assistance**

- A. The use of illegal drugs and similar substances is a serious threat to our nation's collective health, safety, and welfare. Drug and alcohol abuse in the workplace is dangerous because it leads to physical impairment, loss of judgment, safety violations, and the risk of injury and death. In order to prevent these consequences of drug abuse, the City has implemented this policy. Employees who feel they have a problem with controlled substances should seek assistance.
- B. For information on where to obtain treatment or assistance for drug or alcohol problems, see the below list. These organizations, along with Alcoholics Anonymous (AA) and Narcotics Anonymous (NA), are most helpful in identifying sources for treatment and assistance.



1. National Clearinghouse on Alcohol and Drug

Information 1-800-729-6686

2. National Council on Alcoholism

1-800-622-2255

C. Periodically, the City may make available to employees information regarding substance abuse. All employees are encouraged to attend such programs and to review any material supplied. Some employees may be required to attend such programs or to review such material.

# 2.10 Vehicle Use and Driving Policy

1. **Purpose.** In order to safeguard the City's drivers, passengers, the general public, and property, and to provide guidance and direction to employees assigned, authorized, or required to drive a City vehicle, this policy establishes standards for City employees' eligibility to drive City or personal vehicles on City business.

When using City vehicles, employees should be aware that they are representatives of City of York government and that their conduct is a reflection on the entire organization.

Failure to comply with this policy may constitute grounds for disciplinary action, including suspension or dismissal from employment.

- 2. Scope. This policy applies to all CDL and non-CDL City employees assigned, authorized, or required to drive a City vehicle or a personal vehicle in the performance of their job duties.
- 3. Policy. All City of York employees assigned, authorized, or required to drive a City vehicle in the performance of their job responsibilities shall maintain an appropriate valid South Carolina driver's license and adhere to acceptable minimum standards established by this policy. Departments may adopt specific policies and procedures regarding eligibility for driving specific vehicles and/or equipment, but such policies and/or procedures may not be less restrictive than those herein adopted.

#### **Definitions:**

- A. Vehicle Any automobile, motorcycle, boat, truck, tractor, heavy equipment, or any other motorized vehicle that is owned, leased, or in possession or control of the City of York.
- B. Employee classifications.
  - 1. *CDL employee.* Any City employee whose job description, as maintained in the Human Resource Department, requires that the



employee maintain a valid Commercial Driver's License (Class A or B) issued by the South Carolina Department of Transportation.

- Non-CDL employee. All other city employees whose job descriptions, as maintained in the Human Resource Department, do not require that they maintain a valid Commercial Driver's License, but who are authorized or required to drive City or personal vehicles occasionally or frequently as a job responsibility.
- C. Types of violations.
  - 1. *Statutory.* Non-moving violations, including but not limited to improper equipment, false registration, operating uninsured vehicle, etc.
  - 2. Ordinary. Moving violations, including but not limited to speeding, failure to stop at a traffic control device, improper turn, improper signal, illegal passing, careless driving, etc. (points system violations).
  - 3. *Major/capital.* Serious moving violations, including but not limited to driving under the influence, reckless driving, hit and run with bodily injury, murder, reckless homicide, vehicular felonies, passing a stopped school bus, failure to stop for a law enforcement officer, and other offenses that indicate a willful or wanton disregard for public safety. Major/capital violations also include any offense leading to automatic revocation of the driver's license.
  - 4. *Chargeable accident.* An accident in which the employee is charged with and/or convicted of an ordinary or major moving violation as reported on the MVR.
- D. MVR. The official Driving Record provided by the South Carolina Department of Public Safety, Division of Motor Vehicles.

# **Procedures:**

A. CDL and non-CDL employees. The City of York will audit all City employees' motor vehicle records (MVRs) annually. The results will be reviewed by the human resource manager, any findings will be communicated to the City Manager, and, if necessary, provided to Department Heads for appropriate action as defined herein. These minimum standards will apply in the hiring process of all potential employees whose job descriptions will require them to drive for City business.

City minimum standards:

- 1. City employees required to drive in the performance of their jobs must possess and keep the appropriate valid South Carolina Driver's License.
- 2. An employee's privilege to drive a vehicle or equipment on City business may be revoked if any of the following is contained in the MVR:
  - a. Any conviction of a *major* violation in the last three years;



- b. conviction of more than three *ordinary* violations, three *chargeable* accidents (ordinary violations), or a combination of these in the last three years;
- *c.* conviction of more than two *ordinary* violations or *chargeable* accidents, or a combination of these in the last twelve months;
- d. suspension or revocation of the driver's license in the last three years.
- 3. Suspensions for statutory violations will be reviewed on a case-bycase basis if the license has been reinstated.
- B. Additional requirements for CDL employees (as per Federal and State regulations)
  - A CDL employee must possess and keep a valid South Carolina Commercial Driver's License (Class A or B) and meet and maintain the medical qualifications to drive CDL vehicles and equipment. A CDL employee's privilege to drive a CDL vehicle or equipment for City business will be revoked if any disqualification offense described in Section 391.15 of the Motor Carrier Safety Regulations dated January 1, 1971 is contained in his/her MVR. (Copies of the regulations are maintained by Department Heads of CDL drivers and Risk Management.)
  - 2. Minimum standard for violations evaluated prior to the effective date of this policy. If, before the effective date of this policy, an employee's violations exceed the minimum standards listed above (except for those mandated by Federal and State regulations), the employee will be allowed to continue to operate a vehicle for City business on an introductory basis until the three-year MVR history no longer includes the violation(s), *provided that* the employee's license has been reinstated and the employee successfully completes a driver improvement program.
  - 3. Requirement regarding substance testing

A violation that includes a DUI, which occurs after the implementation of this policy, will require that the employee undergo and provide proof of a chemical dependency assessment as mandated by South Carolina law through the Alcohol Drug and Safety Action Program (ADSAP).

C. Employees that possess a CDL and who are involved in more than 2 accidents in one calendar year, may be placed on a suspension until additional CDL training is completed.

# **Reporting Procedures**

- A. Ordinary violations. Any City employee assigned, authorized or required to drive a City or personal vehicle for City business shall report any conviction of an *ordinary* violation to his/her supervisor within seven days following the conviction.
- B. Major violations/Suspensions. Any City employee assigned, authorized or required to drive a City or personal vehicle for City business shall report the



charge of any *major* violation or *suspension* (including but not limited to DUIs, etc.) to his/her supervisor the next working day following the charge/suspension **and before** driving for City business. The employee's privilege to drive for City business may be administratively revoked pending the final disposition of the case.

- C. All reports of charges, violations and suspensions shall be in writing to the employee's supervisor and shall include the following:
  - 1. Driver's full name
  - 2. Driver's license number
  - 3. Date of conviction (if applicable)
  - 4. The specific offense for which the employee was charged/convicted/ license suspended
  - 5. Whether the violation was while driving a commercial vehicle
  - 6. Location of offense
  - 7. Driver's signature
- D. The supervisor shall report this information to the City Manager within three working days of notice of the charge, conviction, or suspension.

#### **Disciplinary actions:**

- A. An employee found in violation of this policy may be subject to immediate termination.
- B. The MVR review may be considered for employees whose job responsibilities include driving for City business and/or operating a CDL vehicle or equipment.
  - C. Employees with more than two *ordinary* violations, two *chargeable* accidents, or a combination of these in the preceding three-year period will be considered medium risk factors. They will be verbally warned, *required* to review the City's Employee Policy, and required to attend a driver improvement program.
  - D. CDL employees who do not meet the DOT mandated standards will be considered high risk factors, will be placed on probation, and may lose their privilege to drive CDL vehicles/equipment on City business until the standards are again met and the appropriate driver's license is reinstated.
  - E. Any employee who does not meet the City's minimum standards will be considered high risk factors, will be formally warned, and placed on probation. Additionally:
  - 1. Conviction of a major violation/suspension may result in the revocation of the employee's privilege to drive for City business. Driving privileges may be reinstated when all of the following occur:
    - a. The three-year MVR is cleared of the violation,
    - b. The driver's license is reinstated/valid,



- c.The employee has satisfactorily completed a driver improvement and any other additionally required programs, and
- d. The employee's Department Head, City Manager, and Safety Coordinator concur with reinstatement.
- 2. Convictions in excess of the City minimums for *ordinary* violations and *chargeable* accidents will result in revocation of the employee's privilege to drive upon consultation of the employee's Department Head, City Manager, Human Resource Manager and Safety Coordinator. Driving privileges may be reinstated when all of the following occur:
  - a. The three-year MVR is cleared of the violation,
  - b. The driver's license is reinstated/valid,
  - c. The employee has satisfactorily completed the driver improvement program, and
  - d. The employee's Department Head, City Manager, and Safety Coordinator concur with reinstatement.
- F. If an employee has a DUI conviction, the employee will be *required* to undergo a chemical assessment program and treatment, or, at the discretion of the City Manager, may be subject to termination.
- G. If an employee incurs further moving violations within the introductory period, disciplinary actions will proceed according to the Personnel Manual.
- H. Failure to comply with any provision herein shall be considered a willful violation of this policy and may result in the permanent revocation of the employee's privilege to drive for City business and/or operate CDL vehicles or equipment.

# Vehicle use:

- A. Personal vehicles. Personal vehicle use may be allowed in the performance of City business when a City vehicle is not otherwise appropriate or available. Employees who use personal vehicles for City business are responsible for maintaining adequate insurance to meet the circumstances of employment. The mileage reimbursement per diem rate established by the State of South Carolina is intended to cover all costs related to vehicle operation. Accurate mileage records must be maintained and submitted to the Finance Department for reimbursement. Persons consistently traveling more than 500 miles per month should be considered for assignment of a City vehicle for business hour usage.
- B. Limited incidental use is allowed at the discretion of the Department Head.
- C. Authorized passengers include the following:
  - 1. City of York employees
    - Persons having official business with the City of York at time of said trip



- 3. Other persons that may travel with the driver from any approved site to another approved site, as long as the particular trip is in line with the shortest practical distance between the two approved points.
- 4. Immediate family members, when authorized training and/or conference out of town require(s) use of a City vehicle.
- 5. Persons referenced in York Police Department *Policy and Procedures Manual* Policy.

#### **Driver requirements:**

- A.Only municipal employees are permitted to operate City-owned vehicles unless said vehicles are being repaired.
- B. All drivers who operate vehicles owned by the City of York are responsible for proper care, use and safety of City property.
- C. Drivers must adhere to the following minimum responsibilities:
  - 1. Possess and maintain a valid State of South Carolina Driver's License which is appropriate to the class of vehicle they will be operating.
  - 2. Notify their Supervisor and Human Resources of any change in driver's license status within 24 hours. If an employee is found to have a suspended license, the employee's driving privileges will be taken away, and the employee will be subject to disciplinary measures.
  - 3. Practice safe and defensive driving by observing all public safety traffic laws and driving courtesy.
  - 4. Ensure that all vehicles are used for authorized purposes only.
  - 5. Maintain vehicles within manufacturer's safe operation standards.
  - 6. Report immediately to Supervisor and Equipment Maintenance Supervisor any damage or breakdown of vehicular equipment.
  - Accept legal responsibility for violations and fines resulting from actions of driver and report violations to immediate supervisor in writing.
  - 8. Pay for parking of City vehicles in situations where free parking is not provided. Parking charges will be reimbursed if conducting official City business. Violators are personally responsible for tickets or other fines resulting from illegal parking.
  - 9. Use off-street parking, if available, for those vehicles assigned on a 24-hour basis and driven to and from a place of residence.
  - 10. Refrain from smoking or vaping in City vehicles.
- D. Seat belt policy.

The City of York is strongly committed to maintaining and improving the health and well-being of all employees. In accordance with state law, shoulder harnesses and lap belts shall be worn by drivers and



passengers of all City vehicles and by all employees conducting City business. Occupants of the back seat of a motor vehicle are excluded from this requirement unless the vehicle is equipped with a back seat shoulder harness, in addition to the lap belt. Additional departmental regulations and policies shall apply. Exemptions to this policy may be granted by the Utilities and/or Public Works Director for sanitation workers and/or meter readers moving between houses.

#### **Risk Management Requirements:**

- A. Maintain and administer an aggressive program for City employees that seeks to reduce vehicular collisions and liability claims against the City.
- B. Maintain complete records on City collisions, property damage, and liability claims, and provide the City Manager with meaningful reports on program progress.
- C. Schedule regular Safety Committee meetings to review all vehicle accidents and safety hazards and make recommendations for improvements.

#### Maintenance:

A. It shall be the responsibility of the person assigned a vehicle to see that the vehicle receives proper maintenance and care. Mechanical problems due to operator neglect may result in disciplinary action. It shall be the responsibility of the operator to keep his/her vehicle as clean as possible at all times. Personnel who are assigned a vehicle should monitor all fluid levels routinely.

If maintenance is needed when outside the City of York, the vehicle operator is to notify his immediate supervisor.

B. Fueling. All fueling should be done at the designated York County Fueling Stations. The stations are located in Rock Hill at the County Complex on Heckle Boulevard and in York across from the Equipment Maintenance Shop. Receipts should be presented for reimbursement for all fueling done on business trips outside the City of York unless a City of York vehicle is used for travel.

#### **Accident Reporting:**

- A. Each Department Head is responsible for instituting and reporting accident investigations that involve City vehicles and his/her department personnel. Reports will be submitted in writing to the City Manager or designee no later than twelve (12) hours after the accident occurred. If an accident occurs on a weekend or holiday, the written accident report should be submitted to the City Manager or designee no later than 10:00 a.m. on the first business day following the accident.
- B. While operating a City vehicle, any employee involved in an automobile accident that results in personal injury and/or damage to property shall complete each of the following steps, unless prevented by injury:



- 1. Turn off engine.
- 2. If necessary, get medical attention for injuries. Guidelines for workers compensation injuries should be followed, depending on the severity of injuries of the City employee.
- 3. Immediately notify the appropriate law enforcement agency:
  - a. In a city or town, the local police department
  - b. Outside a municipality, the State Highway Patrol.

#### The City of York Police Department may be contacted; however YPD shall not conduct the on-scene investigation of accidents involving City-owned vehicles.

- 4. Do not move vehicle unless directed by law enforcement.
- 5. Do not discuss who is at fault with the other driver(s) or bystander(s). An investigating law enforcement officer will ask pertinent questions for determination of fault.
- 6. Notify your supervisor and/or Department Head.
- 7. Obtain the name and insurance company of other drivers and provide all required information to the officer investigating the incident.
  - 8. Obtain names and addresses of witnesses.
  - 9. Cards containing the name of the City's insurer are located in vehicle glove compartments. Obtain the green FR-10 proof of insurance form from the officer investigating the accident.
- 10. For employee injuries, supervisors shall complete a workers compensation "First Report of Injury".
- 11. Copies of all documents provided to the employee must be forwarded to the supervisor or Department Head as soon as possible.
- 12. When the employee is able, he/she needs to prepare a detailed statement of the accident and forward to the supervisor and/or Department Head.

# **Accident Review:**

- A. The City of York has established an Accident Review Subcommittee. This committee reviews all accidents and losses involving City of York vehicles, employees, on-the-job injuries and property damage and presents its findings to the full Safety Committee for review.
- B. The Accident Review Subcommittee has the following authority:
  - 1. Convene meetings of the Accident Review Subcommittee when necessary;
  - 2. Review personnel, accident and injury reports;



- 3. Call before it employees, Department Heads, supervisors and other witnesses;
- 4. Require specific records to be forwarded by the Department Head within three (3) days;
- 5. Recommend attendance at a defensive driving course;
- 6. Recommend appropriate disciplinary action in accordance with personnel policies.
- C. Upon review of the accident, the Subcommittee will gather and analyze the factor(s) contributing to the accident to determine preventability on the part of the City driver.
- D. Any driver who has an accident determined to be "Preventable" or "Definitely Preventable" is required to complete a Driver Training Course.
- E. There will be no right of appeal or grievance regarding the Subcommittee's determination of preventability.
- F. The subcommittee will present its findings and recommendations to the Safety Committee, which will determine what recommendations should be made to the City Manager, Department Head and the driver. Department Heads may take disciplinary action in accordance with the personnel policy.

# 2.11 DISCIPLINARY POLICY

EMPLOYEES MAY BE DISCIPLINED OR DISCHARGED FOR ANY REASON THAT, IN THE CITY'S SOLE DISCRETION, WARRANTS DISCIPLINE OR DISCHARGE. THE CITY MAKES NO PROMISE TO USE PROGRESSIVE DISCIPLINE.

EMPLOYEES MAY BE PRESENTED WITH WRITTEN DOCUMENTS CONCERNING THEIR PERFORMANCE AND BEHAVIOR. UPON REQUEST EMPLOYEES **MUST** SIGN DISCIPLINARY NOTICES, COUNSELING MEMORANDA, PERFORMANCE APPRAISALS, AND OTHER DOCUMENTS PRESENTED TO THEM. THE EMPLOYEE'S SIGNATURE SIGNIFIES ONLY RECEIPT AND DOES NOT NECESSARILY INDICATE AGREEMENT WITH THE CONTENTS OF THE DOCUMENT, AND EMPLOYEES MAY ATTACH THEIR COMMENTS TO THE DOCUMENTS. FAILURE TO SIGN DISCIPLINARY DOCUMENTS RESULTS IN VOLUNTARY TERMINATION.

# **Types of Disciplinary Actions:**

Types of disciplinary actions include, but are not limited to the following:

- C. Suspension without pay
- D. Written warning
- E. Verbal warning
- F. Demotion and/or reduction in pay
- G. Written reprimand



- H. Probation (Performance/Misconduct)
- I. Reduction of annual leave balances

Employees may be placed on administrative leave, with or without pay, pending investigation of disciplinary matters.

# **Reasons for Discipline:**

It is not possible to list all acts and omissions that may result in disciplinary action. The disciplinary action that is appropriate for any particular misconduct is at the sole discretion of the City. The following are merely examples of some of the more obvious types of misconduct which may result in discipline, up to and including discharge. THE CITY RESERVES THE RIGHT TO TREAT EACH EMPLOYEE INDIVIDUALLY WITHOUT REGARD FOR THE WAY IT HAS TREATED OTHER EMPLOYEES AND WITHOUT REGARD TO THE WAY IT HAS HANDLED SIMILAR SITUATIONS.

- A. Conviction of or plea of guilty or no contest to a charge of theft, violation of drug laws, sexual misconduct, offense involving moral turpitude, or offense which affects the City's reputation, or which reasonably could create concern on the part of fellow employees or the public
- B. Incompetence
- C. Unauthorized absence
- D. Insubordination, including disrespect for authority, or other conduct which tends to undermine authority
- E. Failure or refusal to carry out instructions
- F. Unauthorized possession or removal, misappropriation, destruction, theft or conversion of City property or the property of others
- G. Violation of safety rules, neglect, or engaging in unsafe practices
- H. Interference with the work / business of other employees / departments
- I. Threatening, coercing, or intimidating fellow employees, including "joking" threats
- J. Dishonesty
- K. Tardiness or absenteeism
- L. Failure to provide information or falsification in information of City records
- M. Failure to report personal injury or property damage
- N. Neglect or carelessness
- O. Introduction, possession, or use of illegal or unauthorized prescription drugs or intoxicating beverages on City property or while on duty anywhere; working while under the influence of illegal drugs or intoxicating beverages; or the off-the-job illegal use or possession of drugs. For purposes of this policy, an employee shall be determined to be "under the influence" if he has any detectable amount of any such substance in his system.
- P. Unsatisfactory performance



- Q. Failure to keep required licenses and certifications current
- R. Lack of good judgment
- S. Violation of policies and procedures
- T. Any other reason which, in the City's sole discretion, warrants disciplinary action

# **Grievance Procedure:**

- A. Grievances may include, but shall not necessarily be limited to, dismissal, suspensions, involuntary transfers, promotions and demotions. Compensation shall not be deemed a proper subject for consideration under the grievance procedure, except as it may apply to alleged inequities within a department of the City.
- B. The Grievance Policy may be found in its entirely in the City of York Code of Ordinances, Chapter 2, Article IV, Division 2.

# SECTION 3. RECRUITMENT AND SELECTION

#### 3.1 Recruitment

- A. In order to achieve full utilization of all available resources, it is the established policy of the City to select the best-suited person for the task to be performed with appropriate attention to, but not limited to, the following factors:
  - 1. All Internal & External (not in priority ranking):
    - a. previous work experience;
    - b. education and training background; certifications, etc.;
    - c. examination score(s), if applicable;
    - d. outcome of the applicant interview;
    - e. a post-offer of employment physical examination.
    - f. performance tests or mental examination when in the best interest of the City.
  - 2. Police Officer Applicant(s):
    - a. psychological examination;
    - b. polygraph examination, etc.
  - 3. Current Employee(s):
    - a. demonstrated skills and abilities;
    - b. demonstrated reliability, honesty and integrity;
    - c. past performance.
- B. All applicants for employment, internal and external applicants, are to complete a City of York employment application. When completing a City application form, applicants may submit a resume; however, the resume does not take the place of information requested on the application form.
- C. Generally applicants tentatively selected for employment must undergo a preemployment drug test. The City does not hire applicants tentatively selected for employment who refuse to submit to a drug test or who test positive for use of illegal or unauthorized substances or the illegal use of authorized



substances. An applicant who is rejected under this policy may be considered for future vacancies if he can demonstrate that he is no longer a user of any such substances. For example, the applicant may successfully complete a drug abuse treatment program and pass a more thorough drug test conducted at the applicant's expense. (This may include participation in and successful completion of a rehabilitation program as well as a negative drug test result on a more thorough drug test.)

# 3.2 Duties and Responsibilities

All employees of the City are hired to accomplish the goals and carry out the policies set by the City. While the City endeavors to assign each employee a regular set of duties, it should be fully understood as a condition of employment that employees are expected to fulfill all duties and responsibilities as directed by their supervisors.

# 3.3 Post-Offer Medical Examinations/Drug Testing

- A. Post-offer medical examinations may be required for all applicants who have been given a conditional offer of employment. "Post-offer" physical examinations are conducted for such classes of positions as determined necessary by the City Manager. An examination is conducted by a physician included in the City's benefits provider network or approved in advance by the City Manager.
- B. The City may conduct a post-offer drug test for those who have been given a conditional offer of employment. The City will not hire any applicant tentatively selected for employment who refuses to submit to a drug test, or who tests positive for use of illegal or unauthorized substances, or whose test is reported to have been tampered with or adulterated.

#### 3.4 Safety and Accident Prevention

- A. The goal of the City's Safety and Accident Prevention Program is to reduce accidents and injuries involving City employees, equipment and property; to realize savings by initiating and monitoring loss control procedures; and to ensure that the City maintains appropriate safety and health standards. This includes implementing measures to ensure the City's compliance with the following:
  - 1. Blood Borne Microorganism Exposure Control Plan
  - 2. Hazard Communications Standard (Employee Right to Know Program);
- B. The City of York is committed to maintaining and improving the health and well-being of all employees. In accordance with state law, shoulder harnesses and lap belts are to be worn by drivers and passengers of all City vehicles and by all employees conducting City business. Occupants of the back seat of a motor vehicle are excluded from this requirement unless the vehicle is equipped with a back seat shoulder harness, in addition to the lap belt. Additional departmental regulations and policies apply. Exemptions



to this policy may be granted by the Utilities and/or Public Works Director for sanitation workers and/or meter readers moving between houses.

- C. It is the responsibility of the City Manager, or designee, to implement and monitor safety practices in accordance with basic safety standards.
- D. Accidents resulting in injury or property damage are to be reported to the employee's immediate supervisor as soon as possible. The supervisor is to receive an accident report from the involved employee for any accident resulting in personal injury or damage to City property. The written report is forwarded to the City Manager within three (3) working days following the date of the accident.
- E. Each employee is responsible for his own personal safety and for the safe completion of assigned tasks. Employees must respond to all planned safety efforts and perform their assigned jobs in the safest manner possible. The City of York is committed to making its safety and loss control program a success and expects all employees to assist in this effort by contributing expertise and by following all established rules and procedures. All employees are to:
  - 1. Exercise maximum care and good judgment at all times to prevent accidents and injuries; obey safety rules and exercise caution in all their work activities;
  - Report to supervisor and seek first aid for all injuries, regardless of how minor;
  - 3. Immediately report to their supervisors any unsafe conditions, equipment, or practices;
  - 4. Use safety equipment provided by the City at all times;
  - 5. Observe conscientiously all safety rules and regulations at all times; Notify their supervisors, before the beginning of the work day, of any medication they are taking that may cause drowsiness or other side effects that could lead to injury to themselves and their coworkers;
  - 6. Report any unsafe conditions to their supervisors. It is important to note that ALL employees, including supervisors, are expected to correct unsafe conditions as promptly as possible;
  - 7. Use all issued safety equipment when performing tasks for which that equipment has been issued.

# 3.5 Employee Definitions

- A. Full-time Employee. An employee who has successfully completed his introductory period and is regularly scheduled to work 40 hours or more per workweek or work period.
- B. Introductory Employee. A full-time or part-time employee in an authorized City position who has not completed his prescribed introductory period or change of status prescribed introductory period.
- C. Introductory Period. A six-month period of time during which the department head evaluates a new employee's performance, knowledge, skills, capabilities, work habits and overall performance. The period during



which a new employee has the opportunity to demonstrate his ability to achieve a satisfactory level of performance and to determine whether the new position meets expectations. This period is not a guarantee of employment for six months. This period may be extended at the discretion of the department head.

D. Part-time Employee. An employee who is regularly scheduled to work fewer than 40 hours per week

# **SECTION 4. CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT**

# 4.1 Nepotism - Hiring of Relatives

- A. The employment of relatives in the same department/division or on the same shift may cause conflicts and problems with favoritism and employee morale. In addition to claims of partiality in treatment at work, personal conflicts from outside the work environment can be carried into day-to-day working relationships. For purposes of this policy "immediate family includes spouse, children, mother-in-law, father-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, grandchildren, parents, grandparents, siblings (brother or sister), half-brother, half-sister, any relative residing in the same household. The immediate family is also considered to include stepparents, stepchildren, stepbrothers and stepsisters when the employee and the step-relative have lived together regularly in the same household. (Note: This policy does not apply to seasonal workers.)
- B. Members of an immediate family may not be employed or continue to be employed by the City when such employment results in one member of an immediate family supervising (directly or indirectly), evaluating the performance of, or disciplining other immediate family members; where one employee occupies a position of influence over an immediate family member's employment duties, promotion or salary; or where an immediate family member is in any other way responsible for the employment status of the other immediate family member.
- C. Members of an immediate family may not be employed by the City in the same Division.
- D. Unrelated employees residing together or otherwise engaged in a close personal relationship are treated as being within the immediate family of each other for the purpose of this nepotism policy.

If employees become related and create a situation prohibited by this policy, one of the employees may be required to give up his position. If the employees cannot choose which of them it will be, the employee having the lower budgeted compensation may be removed. The removed employee may be considered for other positions within the City of which he is qualified. Situations not specifically addressed in this policy that, in the City's opinion, create a conflict of interest or give the appearance of a conflict of interest, will be handled at the City's discretion.



#### 4.2 Job-Related Investigation

Each employee of the City may be required to cooperate with respect to any job-related inquiry scheduled by the City Manager. If the possibility of a criminal action is involved and the employee refuses to answer questions relating to the hearing or inquiry, the matter may be forwarded to the appropriate law enforcement authority for action.

# **SECTION 5. CODE OF CONDUCT**

#### **5.1 Employee Conduct**

- A. It is the duty of all employees to maintain high standards of conduct, cooperation, and courtesy to City customers and to the public, as well as to maintain high standards for effective and efficient work for the City.
- B. Use of City tools, equipment and facilities for personal use is prohibited. Personal work on City time is prohibited.
- C. City employees are to deal with customers or the public in a courteous manner.
- D. An employee's work at the City is one of a confidential nature. Employees are expected to treat financial, personal, and professional information with strictest confidentiality.
- E. Employees are to meet the established employment standards regarding character, performance, and ability to deal with customers and the public, as defined in the position descriptions.

#### 5.2 Dealing with the Public

- A. Friendly and efficient service to the public earns respect for you and for the entire City government, which you represent. For this reason, always practice good public relations by showing genuine interest in citizens' concerns or requests and by providing prompt and courteous service.
- B. Your future in City employment depends upon your willingness to excel and succeed. City government is continuously expanding its services to the citizens; conscientious employees are assets to this expansion.
- C. Rude or otherwise unfriendly and unprofessional correspondence with the public will not be tolerated and will result in coaching and disciplinary action at the City's sole discretion.

#### 5.3 Outside Employment

- A. City employment is considered the employee's primary employment, and no employee may engage in outside employment that would interfere with the interest of the City service, serve as a conflict of interest, give the appearance of a conflict of interest, or in any way interfere with the working schedule of the employee.
- B. Equipment, vehicles, property, facilities, materials, supplies or uniforms of the City may not be used by employees for outside employment or for



travel to or from such employment unless explicitly authorized by the City Manager. All employees engaged in outside employment must submit to their department heads, in writing, where they are employed, when they work, and any other pertinent information.

- C. In the event the City Manager determines that a conflict or appearance of a conflict of interest exists, the employee is given the option to continue employment with the City or resign.
- D. Approval for outside employment may be withdrawn at any time in the City's discretion.

# 5.4 Conflict of Interest

- A. Employees have an obligation to conduct business within guidelines that prohibit actual or potential conflicts of interest.
- B. An actual or potential conflict of interest occurs when an employee is in a position to influence a decision that may result in a personal gain for that employee or for a relative as a result of the City's business dealings. For the purposes of this policy, a relative is any person who is related by blood or marriage.
- C. Employees of the City may not engage in the same or similar line of business or research as that which is conducted by the City without the previous written approval of the City Manager. An employee may not have a financial interest in a company which is a competitor of or a supplier to the City. Financial interests held by a relative in such companies are to be disclosed to the City Manager so that a determination can be made regarding whether a conflict exists.
- D. It is specifically prohibited for an employee to sell supplies used by the City.
- E. If an employee has any influence on transactions involving purchases, contracts or leases, it is imperative that he disclose to the City Manager, as soon as possible, the existence of any actual or potential conflict of interest so that safeguards can be established to protect all parties.
- F. Personal gain may result not only in cases where an employee or relative has a significant ownership in a firm with which the City does business, but also when an employee or relative receives any kickback, bribe, substantial gift, or special consideration because of any transaction or business dealings involving the City.
- G. The materials, products, designs, plans, ideas, and data of the City are the property of the City and must never be given to an outside firm or individual except through normal channels and with appropriate authorization. Any improper transfer of material or disclosure of information, even though it is not apparent that an employee has personally gained by such action, constitutes unacceptable conduct.

A determination as to whether this policy has been violated is in the City's sole discretion.



#### 5.5 Gifts and Gratuities

An employee may not accept gifts, gratuities, entertainment or loans from organizations, business concerns, or individuals with whom he has, or may have, an official relationship or with whom he conducts, or may conduct, business with the City. These limitations are not intended to prohibit the acceptance of articles of negligible value which are distributed generally, or to prohibit employees from accepting social courtesies which promote good public relations, nor to prohibit employees from obtaining loans from lending institutions. An employee receiving any gift or gratuity must file a report on any such occurrence.

#### **5.6 Civic and Political Activities**

- A. City employees are encouraged to be active and participate in local, state and federal affairs. Employees are encouraged to exercise their rights as citizens, which include holding membership in and supporting a political party, voting independently, and participating in civic activities, except where a conflict of interest may arise. As an employee of the City, employees may not:
  - 1. utilize City time, materials or equipment in support of a campaign;
  - 2. utilize City time, materials or equipment in support of voting activities;
  - hold political office during employment which would create a conflict of interest, or participate in civic organizations which would create a conflict of interest;
  - 4. solicit any assessments, contributions or services for any political party or candidate from any employee in City service during working hours.
- B. In circumstances involving real or potential conflicts, employees who run for public office may be placed on an unpaid leave of absence until after the election. If an employee is elected, he is terminated if election position would cause him to violate the prohibition on dual-office holding. He may be terminated if his election might cause a conflict of interest.

#### 5.7 Release of Information

At all times, employees are to be courteous, friendly and helpful to those members of the public who seek information and access to City records. No employee entrusted with, or having knowledge of, information of a confidential nature concerning either another employee or the City is to release such information without the specific approval of the City Manager. Employees are to decline, courteously, to reveal information unless release of information is a normal part of an employee's duties.

#### 5.8 Freedom of Information Act

The City adheres to the stipulations contained in the Freedom of Information Act (FOI). All FOI requests are to be submitted/directed to the Municipal Clerk.



#### 5.9 Tobacco / Smoking

In keeping with the City's intent to provide a safe and healthful work environment, use of tobacco in any form, including vaping, in the workplace is prohibited in all City-owned, leased or otherwise occupied buildings and vehicles.

#### 5.10 Appearance

- A. City employees are expected to maintain high personal standards. Employees are to maintain a high level of personal hygiene, dress in a professional manner, and wear clothing that is appropriate and tasteful in the City's business environment.
- B. What is appropriate for employees in one department may not be appropriate for another. Where official work clothes and uniforms are provided by the City, it is the responsibility of the employee to wear and care for issued items. Determination of an employee's specific dress and appearance is a supervisory responsibility. Personal appearance standards may be established in departmental rules consistent with the work performed by that department.
- C. Every employee is a public representative of the City. Each of us must report to work properly groomed and wearing appropriate clothing according to their position/department. The City of York observes a business casual dress code in the absence of position/department requirements. Business casual clothing that is less formal than traditional business wear but is still intended to give a professional and businesslike impression.
- D. Consult your supervisor if you have questions concerning this policy. Any employee who does not meet the standards of this policy will be subject to corrective action, which may include leaving the premises. Employees will not be compensated for any work time missed because of failure to comply with this policy. Violations of this policy may result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment.

#### 5.11 Attendance and Punctuality

All employees are expected to arrive on time, ready to work, every day they are scheduled to work.

- A. To maintain a safe and productive work environment, the City expects employees to be reliable and to be punctual in reporting for scheduled work.
- B. Absenteeism and tardiness place a burden on other employees and on the work program of the City. Employees are responsible for notifying their supervisors as soon as possible <u>in advance</u> of anticipated absence or tardiness. Poor attendance and/or excessive tardiness, even for good reasons, is unacceptable.
- C. If unable to arrive at work on time, or if an employee will be absent for an entire day, the employee must contact the supervisor as soon as possible. Voice mail, text messages and e-mail messages are not acceptable



unless specifically approved by the supervisor and except in certain emergency circumstances. Excessive absenteeism or tardiness will result in discipline up to and including termination. Failure to show up or call in for a scheduled shift without prior approval may result in termination. If an employee fails to report to work or call in to inform the supervisor of the absence for 3 consecutive days or more, the employee will be considered to have voluntarily resigned employment.

D. Department heads must notify the Human Resource Manager or City Manager of their absence whether scheduled or unscheduled prior to the start of their workday.

## **5.12 Telephone Policy**

A. Business

A large percentage of the City's business is transacted by telephone. Always answer the telephone promptly, pleasantly, and competently. Identify yourself as an employee of the City.

B. Personal

The telephone equipment of the City is provided for providing service to our customers; therefore, it is necessary to limit personal calls to an absolute minimum. Personal calls on both City-provided and personal phones should be made only in case of absolute necessity or emergency. If non-emergency personal calls are made, please arrange to make them during breaks or meal periods.

## 5.13 Solicitation

A. Solicitation of City employees by private individuals or by City employees is prohibited unless prior approval is granted by the City Manager. Approved solicitation must take place during non-work time. Cityauthorized solicitation for recognized charitable organizations is purely voluntary; no coercion of an employee to make contributions is permitted. Upon approval by the City Manager, designated City employees are permitted to solicit other employees of the City on behalf of recognized charitable organizations during working hours.

## 5.14 Purchase of City Property

Elected officials, officers, and employees of the City and members of their immediate families may not bid for or purchase City property, except at open auction or in accordance with advertised bid procedures.

## **5.15 General Prohibitions**

A. Employees may not make any false statement(s), certification(s); mark(s); rating(s) or report(s) about any test certification(s), or appointment(s) made under these policies; or in any manner commit or attempt to commit any fraud for the purpose of preventing the impartial execution of these policies.



- B. Employees may not deceive or obstruct any person(s) in their application, certification, eligibility, or appointment under these rules; or furnish to any person any special or confidential information for the purpose of affecting the rights or prospects of any person with respect to employment with the City.
- C. Employees or officials whose duties involve the use of a badge, card or clothing insignia as evidence of authority or for identification purposes may not permit such badge, card or insignia to be used or worn by any person who is not authorized to use or wear same; nor may they permit same to be out of their possession without good cause, or approval of the Department Head or appropriate Management personnel. Such badge, card or insignia may be used only in the performance of the official duties of the position to which they relate.

## 5.16 Housekeeping

It is the responsibility of all employees to maintain common areas in which they work or utilize during meal or break periods. Each employee is to keep his own work area clean. The employee is to do his part in maintaining tools and equipment in a neat and orderly fashion.

## 5.17 Workplace Safety

A. Weapons: Subject to applicable law, the City prohibits employees from possessing or carrying weapons of any kind on City property. In the event that an employee has a permit that enables them to carry weapons, they are still not authorized to have the weapon on City property.

This includes:

- Any form of weapon or explosive.
- All firearms; and

• All illegal knives or knives with blades that are more than six (6) inches in length or that are not intended for legitimate work-related purposes.

If an employee is unsure whether an item is covered under this policy, they should contact their Supervisor or Human Resources. Employees are responsible for making sure that any item they possess is not prohibited by this policy. If an employee becomes aware of anyone violating this policy, they should notify their Supervisor or Human Resources immediately. Failure to comply with this policy may subject an employee to disciplinary action, up to and including immediate termination.

B. Visitors: To provide for the safety and security of Employees and the facilities at the City, only authorized visitors are allowed in the workplace. Restricting unauthorized visitors helps maintain safety standards, protects against theft, ensures the security of Employees, protects confidential information, and avoids potential distractions and disturbances. All visitors should enter City facilities at the main entrance.



Employees are responsible for the conduct and safety of their visitors. If an unauthorized individual is observed in City facilities, Employees should direct the individual to the receptionist and immediately notify their Supervisor.

In the event of an emergency, notify the appropriate emergency personnel by dialing 911 to activate the medical emergency services.

# **SECTION 6. EMPLOYEE RECORDS**

## 6.1 Personnel Records

- A. The official personnel record files for all City employees, active and inactive, are maintained by the City Manager or his designee, notwithstanding that such records may be in the possession of the Human Resource Manager.
- B. **IMPORTANT:** Employees' medical and related records, i.e., workers' compensation reports, etc., are maintained in a file separate and apart from the employees' personnel file.
- C. Financial Records. The Human Resource Manager has both possession of and control over all employee's financial records. The Human Resource Manager performs all duties connected with the upkeep of the financial records.
- D. Access to Personnel Files
  - 1. An employee may review his own personnel file by making an appointment to do so.
    - When required, employees must inform their supervisor of this action.
  - 2. All records are confidential and are reviewed in the presence of the City Manager or his designee during normal working hours or other scheduled time. Records may not be removed from the designated City office, or photocopied for any reason.
- E. Personal Inquiry. The City Manager or his designee responds to public inquiry relative to employees and former employees during normal working hours. It is the policy of the City to respond to inquiries on employees or former employees as follows:
  - 1. Phone Inquiries <u>Confirmation</u> of only the information provided; i.e., name, address, phone number, social security number, date of hire, position title and, in the case of a department head only, current salary.
  - 2. Written Requests Only information that can be verified, i.e., name, address, phone number, social security number, date of hire, position title, salary, wages for a requested period of time are provided. Inquiries concerning attendance, performance, etc., should be responded to as follows: It is the policy of the City to release only the information provided. Written requests must be accompanied by a release bearing the employee's signature.



#### 6.2 Personal Data Changes

It is the responsibility of each employee to provide prompt notification to the Personnel Office of any changes in personal data, such as:

- A. Personal mailing addresses;
- B. Telephone number;
- C. Number and names of dependents;
- D. Individuals to be contacted in the event of an emergency;
- E. Educational accomplishments;
- F. Marital status;
- G. Beneficiary changes;
- H. All other information should be kept accurate and current.

#### 6.3 Personnel Transactions

- A. All appointments, authorized salary increases, promotions, employee evaluations, demotions, dismissals, suspensions and other personnel transactions are to be made in writing and in the manner designated by the City Manager.
- B. A written request or personnel action form is to be completed for any personnel action involving a promotion, demotion, transfer, termination, request to extend introductory period, etc.

#### 6.4 Attendance Records

- A. The City maintains attendance records for each employee. Department heads are responsible for verifying employees' attendance on the biweekly time reports. This attendance record is concurrent with the work week, or work period, for the designated pay period.
- B. Time reports are due to the payroll office by 10:00 a.m. on Monday following the Friday pay period ending date.
- C. Attendance records are to reflect all time worked and absences including vacation, sick leave, holidays, any other leaves paid or unpaid, excused or unexcused.
- D. An employee's record is made available to him for inspection upon written request.

## SECTION 7. EMPLOYEE CHANGE OF STATUS

#### 7.1 Promotion

- A. An employee, irrespective of the position or area in which he is employed, may apply for promotional consideration. Where two or more employees are considered for a position, the following factors, including others the City deems important and in its best interest, apply:
  - 1. knowledge, training, ability, skill and efficiency



- 2. prior performance evaluations;
- 3. attendance record;
- 4. outcome of the interview;
- 5. length of continuous service from the last date of hire.

The above factors are not necessarily in order of importance.

B. A promoted employee serves an introductory period of six (6) months in his new position. If the employee fails to meet standards of performance and expectation, he may be restored to the position from which he was promoted, if available, or to a comparable position, if available. If a comparable position is not available, the employee may be given priority for any City-wide vacancy for which he is suited. In the event no vacancy exists for which the employee is suited, the employee is terminated. The terminated employee is eligible to re-apply for employment.

# 7.2 Demotion

- A. Voluntary Demotion. For various reasons, an employee may request a demotion, either within his department or by transfer to another department.
   A voluntary demotion is to be requested in writing by the employee and approved by the City Manager. Demotion denotes a lower pay grade.
- B. Involuntary Demotion Non-Disciplinary. An employee whose work in his present position is unsatisfactory may be demoted by the City Manager.

A demoted employee serves an introductory period of six (6) months in the demoted capacity. If, after the introductory period, the employee's service is unsatisfactory, the employee is terminated.

# 7.3 Lateral Transfer

- A. A lateral transfer occurs when an employee moves to another position having the same pay grade as his current position.
- B. Insofar as is practical, an employee may be transferred within the organization to a position where, in the City's opinion, his skills are best utilized. An employee may request, in writing, a lateral transfer, stating the reason(s) for the transfer.
- C. A transferred employee may be required to serve an introductory period of six (6) months in the new position.

# **SECTION 8. COMPENSATION / WAGES**

## 8.1 Wages during Daylight Savings Time Transition

- A. This policy applies only for non-exempt employees who are paid on an hourly basis vs. a salary basis.
- B. Non-exempt employees who are scheduled to work a shift when daylight savings time goes into effect (2:00 A.M.) are paid as follows:



- 1. Spring: An employee may work one (1) hour less on that scheduled shift. Affected employees will have this hour deducted from their time and be paid accordingly for other hours worked on that shift.
- 2. Fall: An employee may work one (1) hour more on that scheduled shift. Affected employees have this hour considered as hours worked and are paid accordingly for that hour and other hours worked on that shift.

# 8.2 Salary Progression

- A. Merit Increase System (paid only if approved during budget deliberations)
  - 1. The Merit System is developed as part of this plan to allow the City latitude in monetarily rewarding deserving employees for exceptional motivation, adaptability, and productive performance.
  - 2. Merit increases are considered based on demonstrated performance, the financial policies of the City and other considerations. The department head recommends a merit increase for an employee based on criteria set forth in the appraisal form. Such recommendation is submitted to the City Manager for consideration and approval.
  - 3. No individual may receive more than one merit increase during any fiscal year.
  - 4. As a rule, merit increases appear on the first paycheck following approval of the merit increase by the City Manager, and may be paid retroactively to the anniversary date.
- B. General Pay Adjustment. From time to time, the City Council may approve a general pay adjustment for all employees.
- C. Cost of Living Adjustment (COLA). Upon appropriate notification of economic changes, the City Council may approve a cost of living adjustment to the Compensation (Pay) Plan's salary schedule, thereby adjusting each pay grade's salary range; i.e., the minimum salary, the midpoint salary, and the maximum salary. For a new hire, a COLA may be applied upon successful completion of the six (6) month introductory period.

# 8.3 Date of Hire/Anniversary Date

- A. New Hire: The date of hire and the anniversary date of the new employee is the date the employee begins work in a full-time or regular part-time position.
- B. Re-employment: The date of hire and the anniversary date of the reemployed employee is the date the employee is re-employed.

# 8.4 Employment Classifications

In order to determine eligibility for benefits and overtime status and to ensure compliance with federal and state laws and regulations, the City of York classifies its employees as shown below. The City of York may review or change employee classifications at any time.



Exempt. Exempt employees are paid on a salaried basis and are not eligible to receive overtime pay.

Nonexempt. Nonexempt employees are paid on an hourly basis and are eligible to receive overtime pay for overtime hours worked.

Regular, Full-Time. Employees who are not in a temporary status and work a minimum of 40 hours weekly and maintain continuous employment status. Generally, these employees are eligible for the full-time benefits package and are subject to the terms, conditions, and limitations of each benefits program.

Regular, Part-Time. Employees who are not in a temporary status and who are regularly scheduled to work fewer than 40 hours weekly, but at least 20 hours weekly, and who maintain continuous employment status. Part-time employees are eligible for some of the benefits offered by the City and are subject to the terms, conditions, and limitations of each benefits program.

Temporary or Seasonal, Part-Time. Employees who are hired as interim replacements to temporarily supplement the workforce or to assist in the completion of a specific project and who are temporarily scheduled to work fewer than 30 hours weekly for a limited duration. Employment beyond any initially stated period does not in any way imply a change in employment status.

Additional classifications may be authorized at the discretion of the City.

## 8.5 Introductory Period

Introductory Period - New Employees: All new employees are considered to working an introductory period for the first 6 [six] months. This period is a continuation of the selection process and is a time in which the new employee should demonstrate that he is suited for his job. This period is not a guarantee of employment. If the Department Head concludes at any time that the employee is not suited for his position, the employee may be terminated, or the City may extend the introductory period if approved by the City Manager.

The introductory period ends successfully when the Department Head, not sooner than 6 months after the employee was hired, evaluates the new employee in writing and authorizes his classification as a "regular" employee.

Introductory Period - Promoted or Reclassified Employees: All newly promoted employees or reclassified employees are considered to be serving a training period in their new jobs for 6 [six] months. This period is a continuation of the selection process and is a time in which the newly promoted employee should demonstrate that he is well suited for the promotion. It is not a guarantee of employment.

If the Department Head concludes at any time during the promotion training period that the newly promoted employee is not suited for his new position, the employee may be removed from that position. If there is a vacancy in his former position that is to be filled, he may be returned to it. If there is no such vacancy, he may be considered for the filling of other vacancies for which he is qualified. If no other position is found for him, the employee may be [placed on personal leave of absence/terminated]. This action does not prohibit an employee from applying for future vacancies with the City.



# SECTION 9. WORK CONDITIONS AND HOURS

## 9.1 Timekeeping

- A. Accurately recording time worked is the responsibility of every nonexempt employee. Federal and state laws require the City to keep an accurate record of time worked each day to calculate employee pay and benefits. Time worked is all the time actually spent performing assigned duties and is to be accurately recorded.
- B. Non-exempt employees must accurately record all hours worked in a work day. Additionally, all hours recorded must have been worked. Overtime work is to be approved before it is performed. For purposes of public accountability, exempt employees may be required to record their work hours.
- C. Tampering, altering, or falsifying time records or recording time on another employee's time record is prohibited. It is the employee's responsibility to sign his time record to certify the accuracy of all time recorded. The supervisor reviews and approves the time record before submitting it for payroll processing.
- D. The City Manager may vary schedules when deemed necessary to serve the best interests of the city.
- E. Specific work schedules identifying the specific beginning and ending times of the work week and work period and the beginning and ending times of the work day are to be established and displayed in areas easily accessible to employees.

#### 9.2 Work Schedules/Hours of Work

- A. Work Week: As used in this and other policies within the personnel program, the term "workweek" means the number of hours an employee is scheduled to work during a designated seven (7) consecutive calendar day period of time. The established work week is Saturday at 12:00am through Friday at 11:59 pm.
- B. Hours
  - 1. Non-Exempt Employees
    - a. Administrative Staff (Non-Exempt): The normal work day is 8:30 am 5:00 pm, Monday through Friday.
    - b. Police Department: The normal work day is twelve (12) hours, or as scheduled.
    - c. Public Works Department: The normal work day is eight (8) hours, or as scheduled.
    - d. Utilities Department: The normal work day is eight (8) or ten (10) hours, or as scheduled.
  - 2. Exempt Employees. The normal work day is eight (8) hours between 8:30 a.m. 5:00 p.m., Monday through Friday, and any other hours required to perform the duties and responsibilities of the position.



3. Meals and break times, if provided, will be scheduled by the department head or supervisor, but must be more than 3 hours after arrival and 2 hours prior to departure.

## 9.3 Pay Day

- A. Payroll is bi-weekly, beginning on Saturday and ending two weeks later on Friday.
- B. The City has authorized the Friday following the end of the payroll period as payday. For paydays that fall on a holiday, the City attempts to pay the preceding work day.
- C. Employees receive payment at their respective workstations. Employees should review their paystubs immediately to ensure they have been properly paid for all hours worked. Any errors must be reported to payroll within fourteen days.
- D. The City deducts from employees' gross pay taxes and withholding required by the taxing authorities. The City may also deduct from employees' pay the employees' share of any premiums or plan contributions for insurance, retirement and similar plans that are elected by the employee. The City may make other deductions as required by law or court order. The City does not make unauthorized deductions and will reimburse employees if such deductions are made inadvertently and reported to payroll.
- E. Cash, debts owed the City, fringe benefits, uniforms, tools, equipment, vehicles, instruction manuals, keys, City identification cards and other items belonging to the City that are advanced or issued to an employee but not repaid or returned by him at the time of his termination are considered advances of wages, the value of which may be deducted from the employee's pay.
- F. An employee terminating from employment with the City, for whatever reason, receives his final paycheck for hours worked and leave to which he is entitled on the next payday following the end of the pay period during which the termination became effective.

## 9.4 Overtime/Compensatory Time

When operating requirements or other needs cannot be met during regular working hours, employees may be scheduled to work overtime hours. When possible, advance notification of these mandatory assignments are provided. All overtime work must have the department head's or City Manager's prior authorization. Employees may not work unauthorized overtime.

- A. Overtime
  - 1. All non-exempt employees, except police officers and firefighters, are compensated for overtime at time-and-one-half for all hours worked over forty (40) in a seven (7) calendar day work week.
  - Eligible police officers are compensated for overtime at time-and-onehalf for all hours worked over 86 in a fourteen (14) calendar day work period. Firefighters receive overtime after 106 every fourteen (14) calendar day work period.



- 3. Overtime requests must be submitted to a supervisor/department head and granted approval.
- 4. In keeping with the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA), Sick time, holiday pay and vacation time used to not count towards "hours worked" and therefore do not count towards overtime.
- 5. **NOTE:** The City reserves the right either to pay for overtime hours worked or to give compensatory time in lieu of overtime pay.
- B. Compensatory Leave Time
  - 1. Compensatory Leave time may be accrued by all non-exempt hourly or non-exempt salaried employees.
  - 2. Non-exempt employees, except police officers and firefighters, may accrue Compensatory Leave time for overtime at time-and-one-half for all hours worked over forty (40) in a seven (7) calendar day work week, not to exceed 40 hours in any one fiscal year. All compensatory leave hours must be taken prior to December 31 of that year. If not taken, the City will pay out the compensatory time balance.
  - 3. Eligible police officers and firefighters may accrue Compensatory Leave time at time-and-one-half for all hours worked over their designated work periods, not to exceed 40 hours in any one fiscal year. All compensatory leave hours must be taken prior to December 31 of that year. If not taken, the City will pay out the compensatory time balance.
  - 4. Compensatory time must be used in whole hours. An employee may not use compensatory time to make up a short work day and also be paid for all overtime for that week (e.g., 44 hours reported, but one day 6 hours were actually worked and 2 hours comp taken = 2 hours overtime paid).
  - 5. Employees who are exempt from overtime receive a salary that compensates them for all hours worked in the work week. Such employees do not receive overtime pay. However, the City Manager may grant additional time off to exempt employees who have worked (approved) and unusual amounts of time in excess of the normal work schedule, but no exempt employee has a right to such additional paid time off. There is not payment for such additional time upon termination or resignation.
    - a. This time is to be used within the pay period in which the time was earned, unless otherwise specified.
    - b. The usage of this time must be submitted to the Human Resource Manager, and then approved by the City Manager at their sole discretion.
    - c. The City will allow employees to use accrued paid time off provided that the use of compensatory time does not unduly disrupt the operations of the City.



## 9.5 Light Duty.

Employees who are not able to perform their regular work assignments due to illness or injury may be assigned light duty, in the City's sole discretion. Generally, light duty is available only if there is meaningful work to be done. Light duty may be provided for a maximum of 60 days.

## 9.6 Performance Evaluations

The City may periodically conduct oral or written evaluations of employees' performance. Employees must sign written evaluations. The employee's signature does not necessarily indicate agreement with the contents of the evaluation, only that he has been made aware of it. Employees will have the opportunity to conduct a self-evaluation in addition. While favorable performance evaluations may be a factor in determining wage increases, no employee is entitled to a wage increase because he receives a favorable evaluation.

## SECTION 10. ATTENDANCE AND LEAVE PROCEDURES

## 10.1 Application

- A. The City provides extensive leave policies. The leaves that are granted should be used wisely and for their intended purposes.
- B. Other benefits that are required by law or City policy are available to new employees unless otherwise specified. New regular full-time employees are paid for approved holidays during the introductory period.

## 10.2 Holidays

- A. From date of hire, all regular full-time employees are eligible for holiday leave for the following holidays, in addition to any other day so designated by the City Council:
  - 1. New Year's Day (January 1)
  - 2. Martin Luther King, Jr.'s Birthday (third Monday in January)
  - 3. Easter Monday
  - 4. Memorial Day (Last Monday in May)
  - 5. Independence Day (July 4)
  - 6. Labor Day (first Monday in September)
  - 7. Veteran's Day (November 11)
  - 8. Thanksgiving Day (Fourth Thursday in November)
  - 9. Day After Thanksgiving (Fourth Friday in November)
  - 10. Christmas Eve (December 24) or Day after Christmas (December 26), as determined by the City Manager.
  - 11. Christmas Day (December 25)
  - 12. Floating Holiday to be used for employee's birthday or holiday of your choosing.



- B. Temporary and part-time employees are not paid for holidays unless regularly scheduled to work that day.
- C. Holidays that fall on a Saturday are observed on the preceding Friday.
- D. Holidays that fall on a Sunday are observed on the following Monday.
- E. Employees wishing to observe any other holiday(s) may utilize annual leave or leave without pay with appropriate notice and department head or City Manager approval.
- F. Employees who are required to work their regularly scheduled shift on a holiday receive eight (8) hours holiday pay, regardless of shift length, in addition to their regular pay.
- G. When a paid holiday is observed by the City during the period an employee is on annual leave or sick leave, the employee receives only his regular holiday leave pay, and that day is not charged against the employee's annual leave accrual or sick leave accrual.
- H. In keeping with the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA), holiday time will not be counted as hours worked for overtime purposes for all regular non-exempt employees.
- I. All full-time employees are paid at 8 hours of holiday pay regardless of shift length.
- J. Leave Policy: Floating Holidays

All full-time, regular employees receive one floating holiday per year in addition to regular paid holidays. This floating holiday may be used only for religious or cultural holidays, employee birthdays, or other state or federal holidays during which the City of York remains open. Employees must specify the event for which they are requesting to use a floating holiday. The request must be scheduled and approved in advance by the employee's immediate supervisor. Floating holidays will not be carried over to the next calendar year, nor may they be cashed out if not taken or paid upon termination of employment.

## 10.3 Annual Leave

- A. General Information
  - 1. It is the policy of the City to provide paid annual leave (commonly referred to as vacation leave), offering the opportunity for healthful rest and relaxation to all eligible employees.
  - 2. Whenever possible, employees are granted paid annual leave at times most convenient to them. However, to ensure a continued, smooth operation and maintain a high quality in the delivery of services to the citizens of the city, the department head or the City Manager reserves the right to limit the number of employees who may be absent from a given department or unit at any one time. When there is a conflict in the schedule of two or more employees who cannot be spared at the same time, the department head makes the determination. The City



Manager may request an employee to work in lieu of taking his scheduled annual leave. Employees who are required to work their scheduled annual leave may reschedule their annual leave.

- 3. Except in the case of an emergency, all annual leave is to be approved, in writing and <u>in advance</u>, by the employee's department head or City Manager.
- 4. An employee wishing to take annual leave should request approval as soon as possible but at least three (3) days in advance. In the event of an emergency which makes the three-day notice impossible, the employee is to get in touch with his supervisor or department head as soon as possible. **NOTE:** The employee may be required to verify the emergency.
- 5. Annual leave is to be taken in one-hour increments.
- 6. Annual leave may not be "sold" for a lump sum at any point during employment.
- B. The maximum number of annual leave days that may be granted in any one calendar year is twenty (25) working days. Additional time may be granted by the City Manager.
- C. Eligibility

Annual leave accrual begins with the employee's date of hire. Part-time employees are not eligible for accrual of annual leave.

D. Accrual

All regular full-time employees receive annual leave with pay according to the following schedule:

Continuous Service (Yrs)	Hours per Year
0-3	80 hours
4-10	120 hours
11-15	160 hours
16+	200 hours

Maximum usable annual leave is 320 hours in one fiscal year.

E. Payment of Annual Leave Upon Separation From Employment

An employee who terminates for non-disciplinary reasons receives payment for **accrued**, unused annual leave, provided he gives and actually works a two-week notice. Employees terminated for disciplinary reasons or those who do not give and work a two-week notice do not



receive payment for accrued leave. The City Manager may waive the twoweek notice.

1. Employee must have actually worked the introductory period to be eligible for this benefit.

2. Uncertified Police officers must have successfully completed the police academy to be eligible for this benefit.

3. Uncertified Firefighters must have successfully completed the fire academy to be eligible for this benefit.

F. An employee on leave longer than 30 days does not continue to accrue leave.

## 10.4 Sick Leave

The City provides paid sick leave benefits to full-time employees for periods of temporary absence due to illnesses or injuries. **Sick leave is a privilege and not a right that an employee may demand.** This benefit is granted to regular full-time employees.

# Shift Annual Sick Leave

8 hours	80 hours
12 hours	84 hours
24 hours	96 hours

- A. General Information
- 1. In order to be eligible for sick leave with pay, an employee is to:
  - a. Report to his supervisor within thirty (30) minutes of the scheduled starting time, giving the reason for the absence. An employee who fails to notify his supervisor may not be paid for the absence. However, notification is not a guarantee that sick leave will be approved. Misuse and/or abuse of sick leave is prohibited.
  - b. Advise his supervisor daily of his condition and anticipated date of return for any absence that extends beyond one (1) day. In the case of extended illness or injury, the employee is responsible for keeping the supervisor informed of his progress.
- 2. The Department Head may require medical certification for any sick leave taken and certification that an employee is capable of returning to work. Failure to provide the required statement may result in the employee's not being paid for the absence.
- 3. If an employee cannot adequately perform his duties or may infect other employees due to an illness, the department head or the City Manager may place the employee on sick leave until he has obtained medical certification as to his ability to perform his duties in a safe and efficient manner.



- 4. During periods of sickness, after exhaustion of accrued sick leave, accrued compensatory time and/or annual leave may be used, at the request of the employee and approval of the department head and/or City Manager. If such request is not made, the employee may be placed on leave without pay. The employee is responsible for payment of any authorized payroll deductions; failure to submit prompt payment results in termination of benefits.
  - B. Eligibility. Sick leave accrual begins on the employee's date of hire. Part- time employees are not eligible for sick leave with pay.
  - C. Accrual
  - 1. The maximum sick leave balance is 1240 hours. [Note: An employee whose sick leave exceeded 1240 hours when this policy was adopted does not lose accrued hours but does not accrue additional time until he drops below the 1240-hour maximum.]
- 2. Sick leave is charged in one (1) hour increments
- 3. An employee is on leave in excess of 30 days employee does not continue to accrue leave.
  - D. Authorized Uses of Sick Leave:
- 1. Personal illness, work-related injury, medical/dental appointments, exposure to a quarantinable disease.
- 2. In instances that are not FMLA-related, illness or injury of a spouse or child, parents, or any relative residing in the same household, or the medical/dental appointments of the above.
- 3. Sick leave may not be "sold" for a lump sum at any point during employment.
  - E. Payment of Sick Leave upon Retirement. Employees who retire in accordance with the SC Retirement System may receive up to a maximum of one thousand forty (1040) hours of unused sick leave. Eligible employees must notify the City Manager by submitting a written request at least 12 months before the anticipated retirement date for budget planning purposes. Employees hired after October 1, 2018, are not eligible for this benefit. The provisions of this benefit are subject to change at any time.
- F. Sick Leave Donation:

An employee may donate up to ten (10) days of accrued sick leave to another employee in one calendar year as long as the donating employee maintains an accrued sick leave balance of at least ten (10) days for his or her own needs. In order to donate sick leave, the employee must request in writing that leave be taken from their accrued total (all requests must be approved in advance by the City Manager).



The employee receiving sick leave must be incapacitated by a non-work related illness or injury for which the employee does not have disability insurance coverage and must have exhausted all of his or her sick and annual leave as well as any documented compensatory time. The employee may receive sick leave from more than one employee and such donations will count as paid leave for the receiving employee. The City of York will not coordinate requests for donation of leave but will process all requests that are received. An employee may donate leave to more than one employee in a calendar year so long as the total donation does not exceed twenty (20) calendar days. Employees may receive a maximum sick leave donation of an equivalent of twenty (20) days in a calendar year. Donations must be made in increments of one whole day.

G. Payment of Sick Leave Upon Separation From Employment An employee who terminates for non-disciplinary reasons receives payment for accrued, unused sick leave in the amount of 15 days or 120 hours, provided he gives and actually works a two-week notice, and has worked for the city for a minimum of five continuous years. Employees hired prior to December 2023 do not have to have worked for five continuous years to be eligible for a sick leave payout. Employees terminated for disciplinary reasons or those who do not give and work a two-week notice do not receive payment for accrued leave. The City Manager may waive the two-week notice.

## **10.5 Bereavement Leave**

A. The City provides bereavement leave to full-time employees of up to 24 hours per calendar year. Bereavement leave is not accrued, and is not carried over. Bereavement leave may be used in the case of death in the employee's immediate family. For purposes of this policy, immediate family includes spouse, children, mother-in-law, father-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, step-children, grandchildren, parents, step-parents, grandparents, siblings (brother or sister), half-brother, half-sister, any relative residing in the same household.

The employee must notify the department head or City Manager of the bereavement before the start of the work day.

- B. Bereavement leave must be taken within seven (7) calendar days of the funeral service. If additional leave is needed, the employee may utilize annual (vacation) leave or leave without pay.
- C. The City Manager may require that proof of death be submitted before payment is authorized. In this event, the employee's supervisor is to obtain the full name of the deceased, relationship to the employee, the funeral home in charge of arrangements, and the time of the funeral.



# A. Voting:

The City encourages employees to fulfill their civic responsibilities by participating in elections. Generally, employees should be able to find time to vote either before or after their regular work schedule. If an employee is unable to vote in an election during his non-working hours, the City Manager may grant up to one (1) hour of paid time off to vote. Employees must request time off to vote at least one (1) working day prior to the Election Day. Advance notice is necessary so that the time off can be scheduled at the beginning or end of the work day, whichever provides the least disruption to the normal work schedule.

B. Military Service:

Employees are entitled to such leave of absence and reinstatement upon return from leave of absence for military service (including Reserve and National Guard duty) as may be provided by applicable state and federal law. The provisions of such laws change from time to time and for that reason, no effort is made to set forth the law in this policy.

# 10.7 Jury Duty Leave

- A. The City encourages employees to fulfill their civic responsibilities by serving jury duty when required. Time off for jury duty, up to ten days per year, is excused with pay for the time actually spent on jury duty when the hours of jury duty conflict with hours of his work, provided that proof of duty is verified by the employee's department head. Any period of time for which an employee is excused from jury duty because of illness is charged with sick leave.
- B. The employee is expected to report for work if within reasonable commuting distance and when it does not conflict with court obligations. It is the employee's responsibility to keep his department head or City Manager periodically informed about the amount of time required for jury duty.

# **10.8 Witness Duty Leave**

- A. An employee subpoenaed to appear in court as a witness <u>on behalf of the</u> <u>City</u> in local, state, or federal court is entitled to civil leave with pay for such period as his court attendance may be required when the hours of court duty conflict with hours of his work, provided that proof of appearance is verified by the employee's department head.
- B. An employee subpoenaed to make a statement regarding City business is to notify the City Manager. This excludes law enforcement personnel acting in their official capacity.
- C. The employee is expected to report for work if within reasonable commuting distance and when it does not conflict with court obligations. It is the employee's responsibility to keep his department head or City Manager periodically informed about the amount of time required for court



appearances. Official court attendance leave is not charged to any other leaves.

## **10.9 Private Litigation Leave**

Absence of a City employee in order to appear in any capacity in private litigation is charged to annual leave or to leave without pay, upon request of the employee and approval by the City Manager.

## **10.10 Administrative Leave**

Regular full-time employees may be granted administrative leave with pay for a reasonable length of time. With prior approval of the City Manager, such instances include, but are not limited to, the following:

- A. Registration or physical examination for U.S. Armed Forces;
- B. Attendance at meetings, conventions, workshops, training sessions, etc., where the good of the City is served;
- C. Severe weather conditions or emergency conditions; Employee is placed on paid leave pending termination from employment for cause action.
- D. Other reasons as the City deems appropriate.

## 10.11 Operational Shutdown Leave

At times, emergencies such as severe weather, fire, power failure, etc., can disrupt City operations. In extreme cases, these circumstances may require the closing of a work facility. In the event the City directs the shutdown of offices, operational units, etc., employees may use available annual leave unless otherwise directed by the City. Employees who are scheduled to report to work during emergency closing situations are notified by the City Manager, or designee(s), and are paid accordingly.

**10.12 Family and Medical Leave Act.** (Applies Only to Employees Employed 12 Months Or Longer *and* Who Have Worked 1250 Hours or More in the Preceding 12 Months, Both Prior to Commencement of Leave.)

- A. General: Employees who meet the length of service and hours worked requirement described above have rights under the Family and Medical Leave Act. As a general rule, employees must request leaves of absence under this law and policy, but in appropriate situations, employees may be placed on leave status without application.
- B. Reason for Leave of Absence
  - 1. Medical and Family Leave. An eligible employee may be entitled to a leave of absence under this law and policy if a serious health condition, including disability resulting from an on-the-job injury, prevents the employee from being able to perform his job, if the employee's spouse, child or parent has a serious health condition and the employee must be absent from work in order to care for that relative, or to care for a natural child, adopted child, or formally placed foster child, provided that entitlement to leave to care for a child who is newly born or newly received in the employee's household shall end 12 months after a



natural child is born or 12 months after an adopted or foster child is received into the employee's household.

- 2. Military Caregiver Leave. An eligible employee whose spouse, parent, child or next-of-kin is a covered service member of the Armed Forces of the United States may be entitled to leave of absence to care for the service member if he is injured while on active duty.
- 3. Qualifying Military Exigency Leave. An eligible employee whose spouse, parent or child is a member of the National Guard or Reserves of the U.S. Armed Forces and is on active duty or called to active duty in federal service may be entitled to a leave of absence due to one or more qualifying exigencies arising out of the active duty or call to active duty. Qualifying exigencies are:
  - a. short-notice deployment (i.e., notice of 7 days or less)
  - b. military events and related activities
  - c. childcare and school activities (regular or routine childcare by the employee does not count)
  - d. financial and legal arrangements
  - e. counseling
  - f. rest and recuperation
  - g. post-deployment activities
  - h. additional activities not encompassed in the other categories, but agreed to by the employer and employee.

Proof of need for leave of absence may be required regardless of the type of leave taken.

## C. Length of Leave

- 1. Medical and Family Leave. An eligible employee may take the equivalent of a total of 12 work weeks of leave during any 12 consecutive months (which is a rolling year measured backward from the date the employee is requesting to use covered leave) for his own serious health condition, that of a parent, spouse or child, or to care for a newly born or newly received child. Leave to care for a newly born or newly received child. Leave to care for a newly born or newly received child must be taken consecutively. Leave required because of the employee's own serious health condition or that of a spouse, child, or parent, may be taken intermittently or by means of a modified work schedule when necessary.
- 2. Military Caregiver Leave. Leave to care for an injured service member may be taken for up to 26 workweeks in a single 12-month period. Any leave taken by the employee for any other FMLA-qualifying reason will count against the 26 weeks of leave permitted to care for an injured service member.
- 3. Qualifying Military Exigency Leave. Leave taken because of a qualifying exigency is available for up to 12 workweeks in any 12 consecutive months (which is a rolling year measured backward from the date the employee is requesting to use covered leave). Leave taken because of a short notice deployment is limited to a 7-day period



beginning on the date of notice to the service member, and leave taken to be with the service member during periods of rest and recuperation is limited to 5 days per period of rest and recuperation. Leave taken to attend post-deployment activities must be taken within 90 days of the end of active duty service.

D. Coordination of Leave and Paid Time Off

An employee who must be absent for an FMLA-qualifying reason will be paid for time lost from work from accrued paid time off balances, if any. Leave taken under this policy counts towards the employee's 12 weeks of leave (or 26 weeks, where appropriate) regardless of whether all or part of the employee's leave is paid.

- E. Effect of Leave on Accrual of Fringe Benefits
  - 1. Health benefit plan. Employees taking leave under this policy must continue to pay their portion of health benefit plan premiums on the same date that such portion of premiums would be deducted from the employee's wages.
  - 2. Accrual of paid leave. Unpaid time lost from work due to leave granted under this policy is not considered time worked for the purpose of accrual of paid time off.
- F. Employee Responsibility

Employees who request leave under this policy must give 30 days' advance notice or such lesser amount of notice as is possible in the particular circumstances. When the need for leave is unforeseeable, the employee must follow the normal procedure for reporting an absence.

G. Termination of Leave of Absence

A leave of absence under this policy will end when the need for the leave of absence ends, or when the maximum leave described above has been taken, whichever occurs sooner.

H. Reinstatement

At or before the conclusion of the FMLA leave of absence the employee is entitled to reinstatement to his former position or to a position equivalent to his former position. The employee must demonstrate that he is fit for duty and must give reasonable notice of intent to return to work.

- I. Extension of Leave Without Benefits
  - 1. An employee who is unable to perform the duties of his position due to his own disability and who has exhausted his entitlement to leave under the Family and Medical Leave Act by taking 12 consecutive weeks of leave may, in the discretion of the City Manager, upon written application, be granted up to an additional 12 weeks of leave. This additional leave of absence does not entitle the employee to reinstatement or to payment of any portion of his health benefit plan premiums. If the employee is able to return to work prior to the exhaustion of his extended leave, he may be returned to his previous



position if it is vacant and is to be filled, or to some other position of equal or lesser compensation for which he is qualified and where there is a vacancy to be filled. If the employee is not returned to active employment, he may be terminated. The circumstances of each employee's situation may be reviewed by the city manager, prior to any termination.

J. Termination of Employment

An employee's employment may terminate if he does not return to full active employment status at the conclusion of his leave of absence or extended leave of absence.

**Special Situations** 

- 1. Spouses. When both a husband and a wife are employed, their combined right to a leave of absence because of the birth or placement of a child, or to care for a newly born or placed child or to care for a parent with a serious health condition is 12 weeks in a 12 month period, or 26 weeks in a single 12 month period to care for an injured service member.
- 2. Key Employees (salaried employee in highest paid 10% of all employees). Such employees may be denied reinstatement rights if reinstatement would cause substantial and grievous economic injury to operations.
- K. Notice of Rights

Federal law requires that we provide you with the notice of your rights, per the following:

- Basic Leave Entitlement. FMLA requires covered employers to provide up to 12 weeks of unpaid, job-protected leave to eligible employees for the following reasons:
  - a. For incapacity due to pregnancy, prenatal medical care or child birth;
  - b. To care for the employee's child after birth, or placement for adoption or foster care;
  - c. To care for the employee's spouse, son or daughter, or parent, who has a serious health condition, or
  - d. For a serious health condition that makes the employee unable to perform the employee's job.
- 2. Military Family Leave Entitlements

Eligible employees with a spouse, son, daughter, or parent on active duty or call to active duty status in the National Guard or Reserves in support of a contingency operation may use their 12-week leave entitlement to address certain qualifying exigencies. Qualifying exigencies may include attending certain military events, arranging for alternative childcare, addressing certain financial and legal arrangements, attending certain counseling sessions, and attending post-deployment reintegration briefings. FMLA also includes a special



leave entitlement that permits eligible employees to take up to 26 weeks of leave to care for a covered service member during a single 12-month period. A covered service member is a current member of the Armed Forces, including a member of the National Guard or Reserves, who has a serious injury or illness incurred in the line of duty on active duty that may render the service member medically unfit to perform his or her duties for which the service member is undergoing medical treatment, recuperation, or therapy; or is in outpatient status; or is on the temporary disability retired list.

Benefits and Protections

- a. During FMLA leave, the employer must maintain the employee's health coverage under any "group health plan" on the same terms as if the employee had continued to work. Upon return from FMLA leave, most employees must be restored to their original or equivalent positions with equivalent pay, benefits, and other employment terms.
- b. Use of FMLA leave cannot result in the loss of any employment benefit that accrued prior to the start of an employee's leave.
- 3. Eligibility Requirements

Employees are eligible if they have worked for a covered employer for at least one year, for 1,250 hours over the previous 12 months, and if at least 50 employees are employed by the employer within 75 miles.

- 4. Definition of Serious Health Condition
  - a. A serious health condition is an illness, injury, impairment, or physical or mental condition that involves either an overnight stay in a medical care facility, or continuing treatment by a health care provider for a condition that either prevents the employee from performing the functions of the employee's job, or prevents the qualified family member from participating in school or other daily activities.
  - b. Subject to certain conditions, the continuing treatment requirement may be met by a period of incapacity of more than 3 consecutive calendar days combined with at least two visits to a health care provider or one visit and a regimen of continuing treatment, or incapacity due to pregnancy, or incapacity due to a chronic condition. Other conditions may meet the definition of continuing treatment.
- 5. Use of Leave

An employee does not need to use this leave entitlement in one block. Leave can be taken intermittently or on a reduced leave schedule when medically necessary. Employees must make reasonable efforts to schedule leave for planned medical treatment so as not to unduly disrupt the employer's operations. Leave due to qualifying exigencies may also be taken on an intermittent basis.

6. Substitution of Paid Leave for Unpaid Leave



Employees may choose or employers may require use of accrued paid leave while taking FMLA leave. In order to use paid leave for FMLA leave, employees must comply with the employer's normal paid leave policies.

- 7. Employee Responsibilities
  - a. Employees must provide 30 days advance notice of the need to take FMLA leave when the need is foreseeable. When 30 days' notice is not possible, the employee must provide notice as soon as practicable and generally must comply with an employer's normal call-in procedures.
  - b. Employees must provide sufficient information for the employer to determine if the leave may qualify for FMLA protection and the anticipated timing and duration of the leave. Sufficient information may include that the employee is unable to perform job functions, the family member is unable to perform daily activities, the need for hospitalization or continuing treatment by a health care provider, or circumstances supporting the need for military family leave. Employees also must inform the employer if the requested leave is for a reason for which FMLA leave was previously taken or certified. Employees also may be required to provide a certification and periodic recertification supporting the need for leave.
- 8. Employer Responsibilities
  - a. Covered employers must inform employees requesting leave whether they are eligible under FMLA. If they are, the notice must specify any additional information required as well as the employees' rights and responsibilities. If they are not eligible, the employer must provide a reason for the ineligibility.
  - b. Covered employers must inform employees if leave will be designated as FMLA-protected and the amount of leave counted against the employee's leave entitlement. If the employer determines that the leave is not FMLA-protected, the employer must notify the employee.
- 9. Unlawful Acts by Employers. FMLA makes it unlawful for any employer to:
  - a. Interfere with, restrain, or deny the exercise of any right provided under FMLA;
  - b. Discharge or discriminate against any person for opposing any practice made unlawful by FMLA or for involvement in any proceeding under or relating to FMLA.
- 10. Enforcement
  - a. An employee may file a complaint with the U.S. Department of Labor or may bring a private lawsuit against an employer.
  - b. FMLA does not affect any Federal or State law prohibiting discrimination, or supersede any State or local law or collective



bargaining agreement which provides greater family or medical leave rights.

L. Physical Disability and Personal Leave

The following applies to:

1) Employees Employed Less than 12 Months,

2) Employees Who Have Worked Fewer than 1250 Hours in the Preceding 12 Months,

3) Employees Who's Reasons for Leave Are Not Covered by FMLA:

For situations not covered by the FMLA Leave Policy, the City offers the following policy related to leaves of absence:

1. An employee who has completed their initial probation period (and any extension thereof) may request a leave of absence for up to 3 months when unable to work because of sickness, pregnancy, or injury on or off the job. Such an employee may also apply for leave of absence for personal reasons. Such leaves are granted only in the discretion of the City Manager or designee upon recommendation by the employee's department head. Employees still in their probation periods who are absent for more than five consecutive scheduled workdays because of any physical disability are generally terminated, but are eligible for rehire. Employees on leave pursuant to this policy should be aware that the City cannot guarantee that their job will be held for them while they are on leave. The circumstances of each employee's situation will be reviewed by the City Manager or designee before termination.

2. Employees are requested to apply for leaves of absence as far in advance of need as is possible, but an employee may be placed on leave status without application when the circumstances warrant such action.

3. Physical disability leaves begin on the first day of absence.

4. After the employee has exhausted his annual and/or sick leave, as a general rule, an employee on leave of absence is not entitled to wages or fringe benefits and does not accrue fringe benefits. Certain exceptions may be established by law.

5. Employees on leave of absence may not engage in other employment.

6. Employees desiring to return to work from an unpaid leave of absence should notify the City Manager or designee in writing at least ten (10) days prior to their desired date of return. If the City finds that the employee is fit to resume their prior duties, the employee may be recalled to his former job if a vacancy exists which is to be filled. If no such vacancy



exists, the employee may be offered any job in which there is a vacancy which is to be filled and for which they are qualified. If no such vacancy exists at the time the employee desires to return to work, the employee's leave of absence may be continued. Extended leave is not guaranteed, and indefinite leave will not be granted. Any employee who has not been reinstated within six (6) months following the commencement of a leave of absence is generally terminated. This action does not affect the employee's eligibility to be considered for hire at some future time. The circumstances of each employee's situation will be reviewed by the City Manager or designee before termination.

# SECTION 11. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PROGRAMS

## 11.1 General Conditions.

Employee benefits as herein described are **subject to change at any time** as required by the City and will be updated in this manual available online at www.yorksc.gov.

## **11.2 Fringe Benefits**

- A. Health Insurance. The City currently pays all regular full-time employees and elected city officials' portion of the health and dental insurance premium for individual coverage only. Employee health insurance coverage continues while the employee is on medical leave of absence due to an on-the-job injury or approved family or medical leave of absence. If the employee elects dependent coverage, the cost is borne by the employee and is paid by payroll deduction.
- B. Retiree Health Insurance.
  - 1. A regular full-time City employee who is a member of the SC Retirement System or the SC Police Officers Retirement System is eligible for retiree insurance
    - a. An employee with 15 years of service **as of July 1, 2010**, who retires under the State Retirement System at age 55, having completed 20 years of continuous service with the City is eligible for health insurance (including dental and life insurance) on the City's plan. The City pays 100% to age 65, at which time the City pays 100% of the Medicare Supplement (and continuation of dental and life insurance) until death.
    - b. An employee with 10 years of service **as of July 1, 2010**, who retires under the State Retirement System at age 55, having completed 15, but fewer than 20 years of continuous service with the City is eligible for health insurance (including dental and life insurance) on the City's plan. The City pays 50% to age 65, at which time the City pays 50% of the Medicare Supplement (and 50% toward dental and life insurance) until death.
    - c. An employee **hired July 1, 2000 or after** who retires under the State Retirement System at age 55, having completed 20 years



of continuous service with the City is eligible for health, dental, and life insurance on the City's plan. The City pays \$300/month towards these benefits to age 65, at which time the City pays \$300/month toward the Medicare Supplement, dental, and life insurance until death. The retiree must remain on the City's insurance plan.

- d. An employee **hired July 1, 2000 or after** who retires under the State Retirement System at age 55, having completed 15, but fewer than 20 years of continuous service with the City is eligible for health, dental, and life insurance on the City's plan. The City pays \$150/month to age 65, at which time the City pays \$150/month of the Medicare Supplement, dental and life insurance until death. The retiree must remain on the City's insurance plan.
- 2. Spouses are not eligible for retiree coverage.
- 3. If a retiree goes to work where health coverage is available, he forfeits his City coverage.
- 4. Upon completion of two (2) consecutive four-year terms, councilmembers, at age 65, are eligible for the Medicare Supplement, with the City paying \$300/month of the cost toward that benefit (including dental and life insurance). To be eligible for this benefit, the council member must have been enrolled in the City's health plan at the time of retirement. Effective January 1, 2013, the City will no longer offer retiree insurance to new hires.
- 5. The provisions of this benefit are subject to change.
- C. Retiree vision coverage. A retiring employee wishing to retain vision coverage under the City's policy will be required to pay six months in advance and, thereafter, in six-month increments.
- D. Life Insurance. The City pays all regular full-time employees' portion of the Life and AD&D insurance premium for individual coverage only. Employees are insured for \$10,000 life insurance under the City Group Term Life Insurance Program. (Life insurance benefits may be subject to reduction due to age. Refer to the city's group life insurance policy for details). Accidental Death and Dismemberment (AD&D) insurance is also provided by the City at no cost to the employee.
- E. COBRA. Employees eligible for the City's health insurance may be eligible for COBRA coverage upon a qualifying event such as, but not limited to, a reduction in work hours, or if there is a change in family status (birth/adoption, marriage/divorce, etc.) It is the employee's responsibility to notify the department head, the City Manager, or the Human Resource Manager.
- F. Social Security. All employees are automatically enrolled in the Federal Social Security System. The amount paid by the employee into the Federal Social Security System is matched by the City.



- G. Credit Union. All full-time and part-time employees are eligible for membership and services of the Family Trust Federal Credit Union. Membership and credit union policies are set by the Credit Union Board of Directors. Employees may participate in this program through payroll deduction.
- H. Retirement. The City participates in the South Carolina Retirement System Program for all regular full-time and part-time employees and the South Carolina Police Officers Retirement System for employees of the police and fire departments. Participation in the retirement plan is also available for parttime employees under certain conditions in accordance with the appropriate SC Retirement System Program.

# 11.3 Workers' Compensation Program

- A. The City provides workers' compensation insurance program to provide for payment of employees' medical expenses and for partial salary continuation in the event of a work-related injury or illness. The amount of benefits payable and the duration of payment depend on the nature of the injury or illness.
- B. An employee who sustains a work-related injury or illness, no matter how minor, should inform the Department head immediately and no later than twenty-four (24) hours. If he is unable to report for work within twenty-four (24) hours, the supervisor is to contact the City Manager and assist with completing the First Report of Injury (State Form 12-a).
- C. The City continues to pay health insurance for the employee during the period of time the employee is incapacitated due to a workers' compensation injury or illness. Payment of dependent health coverage is to be paid by the employee.
- D. Upon returning to work, an employee who has been absent from work due to a workers' compensation injury or illness is to present a doctor's release specifically stating that the employee is capable of performing his normal duties; if not, what restrictions, if any, may apply, and the duration of same.
- E. It is the policy of the City to provide restricted duty for employees who have a temporary disability due to a work-related illness or injury, provided the City has, in its opinion, meaningful work for the employee. Such restricted duty is based on the attending physician's identified restrictions and the work requirements of the City.
- F. An employee out on a workers' comp injury is considered out under FMLA or leave of absence policy. Those policy steps are followed for return to work.
- G. Upon the first working day an injured employee returns to work, his supervisor is to report to the department head or City Manager that the employee has returned.
- H. Questions regarding workers' compensation should be directed to the Human Resource Manager.



## 11.4 Equipment and Supplies

- A. The City provides tools, equipment, vehicles, machines, facilities, materials and supplies to carry on official City business only. Employees who lose or abuse City-provided equipment and/or supplies may be responsible for payment of same through payroll deduction.
- B. Defective equipment, vehicles, or machines should be promptly reported to supervision in order that appropriate corrective action may be taken.
- C. Use of City equipment, tools, machines, vehicles, facilities, materials, and supplies for personal work at any time is prohibited.

## 11.5 Uniforms

- A. The City furnishes uniforms and the appropriate safety equipment, i.e., goggles, hard hats, rain gear, etc., to designated employees.
- B. Any employee who reports for work out of uniform is sent home and not paid for the time he is away from work. Shirts, pants, and shoes are to be worn at all times. Uniforms are not to be worn during off-duty hours.
- C. An employee terminated from employment is responsible for turning in all City-supplied uniforms and safety equipment. A terminated employee is responsible for payment of any missing or damaged uniforms or equipment. Deductions may be made from an employee's final paycheck as an advance of wages for damaged or missing items.

## 11.6 Auto Allowance

An employee designated to use his personal vehicle in the performance of work duties is reimbursed for actual business mileage at the per diem rate currently established by the State of South Carolina. The City Manager is responsible for monitoring the requirements set by the City for an employee to be authorized to use his privately owned vehicle in the performance of his duties.

## **11.7 Travel and Subsistence Allowance**

When City employees are required to travel on official City business outside of the City limits, allowances for transportation are regulated in the following manner:

- A. Transportation. Transportation may be accomplished by either common carrier, private carrier, or the City carrier, and in no instance is allowance for such travel to exceed the cost of Common Air Carrier, Coach Fare. Upon proper authorization, employees utilizing their personally owned vehicles are paid, per mile, at the per diem rate as established by the State of South Carolina. Such allowance is not to exceed the cost of Common Air Carrier, Coach Fare. Employees are properly reimbursed upon proper receipt for all bridge, road, ferry and parking tolls. Receipts for taxis are not required; however, taxi expenses must be itemized.
- B. Lodging /Registration
  - 1. The City pays lodging and registration costs prior to the meeting/event. Employees are expected to utilize standard, medium-priced hotels and motels whenever possible. If an employee is to attend a formal,



organized meeting or convention, he may stay at the hotel/motel where the meeting is being held.

- 2. Receipts for all expenses for which reimbursement is expected are to be presented within thirty (30) days of return from the trip.
- 3. Employees are reimbursed for all registration fees if not prepaid by the City.
- C. Meals.
  - 1. Meals are reimbursed at the current federal per diem rates for South Carolina.
- D. Advance Travel Expenses. When approved by the City Manager, prepayment for anticipated official travel expenses may be disbursed to authorized personnel. To receive payment, the employee is to submit to the City Manager a written request, outlining the requested expenses to be pre-paid.

## 11.8 Training

Employees in good standing may be considered for training opportunities. Inservice training is provided to aid employees to gain efficiency in their work. It is the responsibility of the City Manager to foster and promote programs of employee development and training for the City workforce. The intent of this policy is to improve the quality of services provided by the City.

The City encourages training and education of all employees within the restrictions established by the budget. The cost of **job-related** training may be paid by the City **with prior approval of the City Manager upon recommendation of the Department Head**.

## 11.9 Dues and Certifications

The City may pay all or any part of association dues, fees, etc., or operator certification or professional certification for employees when it is a requirement for his position or when it benefits the City, as determined by the department head or City Manager. If an employee does not pass the certification examination after two (2) attempts, he is responsible for all expenses of taking the examination until the certification is obtained.

## SECTION 12. SEPARATION FROM EMPLOYMENT

## 12.1 Disclaimer

In accordance with the City's Employment-At-Will policy the employee is free to terminate his employment at will at any time, with or without notice or cause; and, the City may terminate the employment relationship with the employee at any time, with or without notice or cause.

## **12.2 Resignation**

A. An employee who voluntarily leaves the City's employ, for whatever reason, is considered to have resigned.



B. To resign in good standing, an employee must give his supervisor at least two (2) weeks' notice in writing and must work during the notice period. Department heads and the City Manager must give and work a six (6)week notice. The notice period may be waived at the City's discretion.

## 12.3 Compulsory (Involuntary) Resignation

An employee who, without valid reason, fails to report to work for three (3) consecutive workdays without authorized leave will be separated from employment and presumed to have resigned. Generally, an employee separating from employment as a compulsory (involuntary) resignation is not eligible for re-employment.

#### 12.4 Retirement

- A. Retirement benefits are available for City employees who are members of the SC State Retirement Plan or the SC Police Officers Retirement Plan and have met eligibility requirements for benefit payment. Retirement applications must be in compliance with the rules of the South Carolina Retirement Systems Program.
- B. An employee planning to retire must so inform the City Manager before the budget that will be affected is submitted to City Council. If sufficient notice is not given, payout for annual leave, etc. may be deferred to the next fiscal year.

#### 12.5 Loss of License/Certification/Job Requirement

An employee who is unable to perform his duties adequately due to the loss of a necessary license or other similar requirement may be terminated from employment. Such an employee may be transferred to another position for which he is suited, if a vacancy exists.

## 12.6 Reduction in Force (Layoff)

- A. Any involuntary, non-disciplinary separation of an employee from City service not involving delinquency, misconduct, or inefficiency is considered a Layoff.
- B. When it becomes necessary to reduce the workforce in a department because of lack of funds, elimination of position(s), lack of work, or other causes, employees may be laid off. The following factors are considered; however, the City reserves the right to take whatever steps it deems necessary for the best interest of the City:
  - 1. average performance for the last three (3) years of service or for the entire period of less than three (3) years;
  - 2. length of service in the employee's current job classification;
  - 3. length of service with the City;
  - 4. importance of the position to the City



- C. If a regular employee is scheduled to be laid off, he may be offered a demotion to a lower class, if a vacancy exists and the employee is suitable for the position.
- D. Prior to a reduction in force, the names and class titles of all regular employees scheduled for layoff are submitted to the City Manager for approval.

## 12.7 Discharge

Discharge is an involuntary separation of an employee from employment with the City for disciplinary reasons, violation of policies, misconduct, or unacceptable performance. No employee may be discharged without the prior approval of the City Manager.

## 12.8 Death

Upon the death of a City employee, any accrued compensation or benefits due to the employee are paid to that employee's designated beneficiary or otherwise specified individual designated as a result of probate proceedings.

## **12.9 Separation Provisions**

A separating employee receives his final pay in accordance with applicable state law. Employee benefits are affected by separation from employment. Some benefits may be continued at the employee's expense if the employee so chooses.

## 12.10 Separation Pay

An eligible regular full-time employee who separates from employment in good standing may be eligible for re-employment or reinstatement, and for the following accrued benefits:

- A. Annual (Vacation) Pay. An employee who leaves City employment for any reason except misconduct is paid for any **accrued**, unused annual leave hours at the employee's current rate of pay, provided he has given and worked the appropriate notice period.
- B. Sick Leave

An employee who leaves City employment in good standing and with 5 years of continuous service is paid for his accumulated sick leave up to a maximum of fifteen (15) days (120 hours) at the employee's current rate of pay. Employees hired prior to December 2023 do not have to have worked 5 continuous years to be eligible for the sick leave payout.

C. Compensatory Time. In accordance with FLSA, all available, unused compensatory leave hours accumulated up through a non-exempt employee's effective date of termination, are paid at time and one-half the employee's regular rate of pay in the employee's current position, regardless of the reason for termination.



#### 12.11 Exit Interview

Employees taking retirement or voluntary severance will be asked to participate in an exit interview once a departure date has been received. Information discussed will remain confidential unless otherwise noted.

## 12.12 Return of Property

Employees are responsible for all property, materials, or written information issued to them or in their possession or control. Employees must return all City property, uniforms, materials, etc., immediately upon request or prior to the effective date of separation from employment. An employee who does not adhere to this policy is considered terminated, not in good standing and, as such, may not be eligible for re-employment. The City will take all action deemed appropriate to recover or protect its property, including deducting the value of any items, as an advance of wages, from the employee's final pay check.

#### 12.13 Reimbursement to the City

Any employee who leaves the employ of the City within one (1) year of having taken, at the City's expense, any required certification training, may have the pro-rata cost of such training/examination(s) deducted from his final pay as an advance of wages.

#### 12.14 COBRA

Employees who participated in the City's health insurance plan and separated from employment for any reason, voluntary or involuntary, are eligible to continue health and dental coverage. Employees and their eligible dependents may elect to continue in the health and dental plan upon payment of the applicable premium, plus any additional administrative charge.



# **Contact Information**

Human Resources: Sarah Ramirez P.O. Box 500 10 North Roosevelt Street, York, SC 29745 P (803) 684-2341 Direct (803) 818-0089 Email: <u>sramirez@yorksc.gov</u> City Website: www.yorksc.gov